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IMS Health Incorporated

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Position
Amounts in thousands, except per share data

IMS Health Incorporated (‘‘IMS’’ or the ‘‘Com- August 31, 2000 (the ‘‘Synavant Spin-Off’’) and
pany’’) is a leading global provider of information solu- sold Erisco to TriZetto and entered into a strate-
tions to the pharmaceutical and healthcare industries. gic alliance with TriZetto on October 3, 2000.
IMS operates in more than 100 countries and consists of IMS also divested or discontinued the other
the following business segments: small non-strategic software businesses.

On July 26, 1999, IMS completed a spin-off of the• The IMS Segment is a leading global provider of
majority of its equity investment in Gartner, Inc.market information, sales management and deci-
(‘‘Gartner,’’ formerly known as ‘‘Gartner Group, Inc.’’)sion-support services to the pharmaceutical and
to IMS shareholders (the ‘‘Gartner Spin-Off’’). Thehealthcare industries. Its key products include
Consolidated Financial Statements of IMS have beensales management information to optimize sales
reclassified for all periods presented to reflect the Gart-force productivity, marketing effectiveness
ner equity investment as a discontinued operation. Dur-research for prescription and over-the-counter
ing the third quarter of 2001, IMS sold its remainingpharmaceutical products, consulting and other
investment in Gartner.services. The IMS Segment is managed on a

global business model with global leaders for the The above changes to the business are more fully
majority of its critical business processes. In discussed in Notes 1, 4, 5, 7, 12, 16 and 23 to the
addition, the IMS Segment includes IMS’s ven- Consolidated Financial Statements.
ture capital unit, Enterprise Associates, LLC
(‘‘Enterprises’’), which is focused on investments Year-ended December 31, 2001 Compared with
in emerging businesses and IMS’s 26.8% equity Year-ended December 31, 2000
interest in The TriZetto Group, Inc. Operating Results
(‘‘TriZetto’’).

Revenue in 2001 decreased 6.4% to $1,332,923
• The Cognizant Technology Solutions Corpora- from $1,424,359 in 2000. Excluding the $170,385 reve-

tion (‘‘CTS’’) Segment delivers full life-cycle nue from the Transaction Businesses Segment, which
solutions to complex software development and was divested in 2000, and excluding the $51,362 adverse
maintenance problems that companies face as impact of a generally stronger U.S. dollar in 2001 reve-
they transition to e-business. These services are nue grew 10.6%. This growth resulted primarily from
delivered through the use of a seamless on-site the success of new products in the IMS Segment, and by
and offshore consulting project team. CTS’s pri- robust demand for CTS’s services, partially offset by a
mary service offerings include application devel- slowdown in non-contracted spending in the IMS
opment and integration, application manage- Segment.
ment and re-engineering services. CTS is a

IMS’s operating costs include data processing costs,publicly traded corporation on the NASDAQ
the costs of data collection and production, and costsnational market. IMS owned 58.3% of the com-
attributable to personnel involved in production, datamon shares outstanding (93.3% of the outstand-
management and the processing and delivery of IMS’sing voting power) as of December 31, 2001 and
services. IMS’s operating costs in 2001 were $494,411,60.5% as of December 31, 2000. IMS accounts
compared with $549,259 in 2000, a decrease of 10.0%.for CTS as a consolidated subsidiary.
Excluding the $86,179 of operating costs associated with

During the years ended December 31, 2000 and Transaction Businesses Segment and certain technology
1999, IMS also included: acceleration costs in 2000 of $15,240, operating costs

grew 10.4%, principally driven by CTS (29.0% growth),• The Transaction Businesses Segment, which con-
as well as higher data collection and production costs insisted of: (a) Synavant, Inc. (‘‘Synavant’’), which
the IMS Segment to support revenue growth.serves the pharmaceutical industry by developing

and selling pharmaceutical relationship manage- Selling and administrative expenses consist primar-
ment solutions that support sales and marketing ily of the costs attributable to sales, marketing, client
decision-making; (b) Erisco Managed Care Tech- service and administration, including personnel, promo-
nologies, Inc. (‘‘Erisco’’), a leading supplier of tion, communications, management, finance, and occu-
software-based administrative and analytical pancy. IMS’s selling and administrative expenses
solutions to the managed care industry; and declined 17.3% to $344,100 in 2001 from $416,006 in
(c) three small non-strategic software businesses. 2000. Excluding the Transaction Businesses Segment
IMS spun off the Synavant business on and certain legal fees, selling and administrative
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Position (continued)
Amounts in thousands, except per share data

expenses grew at only 3.0%, reflecting the results of cost impairment was recorded in the Transaction Businesses
reduction actions initiated in the fourth quarter of 2000. Segment.

Depreciation and amortization expense declined During 2000 IMS assessed its cost structure,
24.8%, to $69,178 in 2001 from $92,000 in 2000. Exclud- directed towards streamlining its administrative infra-
ing the Transaction Businesses Segment, depreciation structure costs, leveraging marketing and sales efforts
and amortization expense remained relatively constant following the creation of a global key account manage-
at $69,178 in 2001 compared with $69,645 in the previ- ment program, harmonizing global production activities,
ous year. global development, human resources and communica-

tions. In connection with the actions taken to streamlineDuring 2001, IMS undertook a Competitive Fitness
operations, IMS incurred charges for the impairment ofProgram to assess the worldwide costs of the IMS Seg-
certain assets as well as severance costs. IMS recorded ament and to identify actions to improve cost efficiencies.
Severance, Impairment and Other Charge of $45,689All functional areas were examined, including sales,
during the fourth quarter of 2000, which is more fullymarketing, client service, data collection, production,
described in Note 8 to the Consolidated Financialand management and administration. In the fourth
Statements.quarter, after completing its assessment, IMS recorded

Severance, Impairment and Other Charges of $94,616 In the fourth quarter of 2000, IMS incurred a
primarily in connection with the actions identified by charge of $31,133 relating to changes in executive man-
this project. These actions include a worldwide reduc- agement. Of this charge, approximately $23,000 related
tion in headcount of more than six hundred employees, to Victoria R. Fash (previously President and Chief
the closing of certain facilities, the write-off of certain Executive Officer) and Robert E. Weissman (previously
abandoned software and other assets and the termina- Chairman) arising principally from the acceleration or
tion of certain contractual relationships. See Note 8 to enhancement of previously existing employee benefits
the Consolidated Financial Statements. obligations, including stock options and pensions. This

charge also included the forgiveness of the balance,During the fourth quarter of 2001, IMS terminated
including accrued interest, due of $3,084 on a loannegotiations to dispose of one of its product lines and
made to Ms. Fash during the year, plus an accompany-decided to retain and continue operating it. In connec-
ing tax liability of $2,580. See Note 9 to the Consoli-tion with this terminated transaction, IMS recorded
dated Financial Statements. The remaining accrual atTerminated Transaction Costs of $6,457, relating pri-
December 31, 2001 amounted to approximately $13,400,marily to legal and accounting services.
primarily relating to long-term pension benefits.

In 2000, in connection with the Synavant Spin-Off,
Operating Income in 2001 increased 136.3%, toIMS incurred $37,626 of costs. These costs include

$324,161 compared with $137,193 in the prior year,$8,813 for expenses related to reductions in the admin-
primarily due to the prior year’s Transaction Businessesistrative workforce resulting from consolidation follow-
Segment loss of $171,450. Excluding the Transactioning the Synavant Spin-Off. Additionally, a data process-
Businesses Segment, as well as the Severance, Impair-ing agreement with a third party for $5,200 was no
ment and Other Charges in both years of $94,616 andlonger used by IMS as a result of IMS’s determination
$45,689 in 2001 and 2000 respectively, the Terminatedto streamline its operations to focus on its core business
Transaction Costs in 2001 of $6,457, the Executive Man-and a further data enhancement contract for $3,600 was
agement Transition Charge in 2000 of $31,133, certainsimilarly no longer used. The remaining Synavant
technology acceleration costs in 2000 of $15,240, andSpin-Off charges related primarily to legal, professional
certain legal fees of $2,336 and $4,069 in 2001 and 2000and other direct incremental costs.
respectively, operating income grew 5.6%, to $427,570

In addition, in connection with the Siebel alliance, in 2001 compared with $404,774 in the prior year.
more fully described in Note 6 to the Consolidated Excluding the unfavorable impact of a generally
Financial Statements, Synavant assessed the impairment stronger U.S. dollar in 2001, operating income grew
of its computer software (including acquired technol- 14.4%. This was due to the revenue growth in the IMS
ogy), goodwill and other intangible assets and change in and CTS Segments, and to IMS’s continuing ability to
intangible asset lives. As a result of this transaction, leverage its resources.
Synavant recorded an impairment charge of $115,453 in

Net interest expense was $9,006 in 2001 andthe third quarter of 2000, comprised of $14,553 on
$13,308 in 2000. The decrease of $4,302 resulted pri-computer software and $100,900 on goodwill. IMS
marily from interest income of $2,755 recorded on therecorded this impairment loss because the Siebel alli-
Nielsen Media Research receivable (see Note 21 to theance was signed prior to the Synavant Spin-Off. This

2



Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Position (continued)
Amounts in thousands, except per share data

Consolidated Financial Statements) and higher average In 2000, IMS recorded a Gain on Sale of Erisco of
cash balances during 2001. $84,530 as a result of the sale of its Erisco business in

exchange for an equity interest in TriZetto. See Note 12The Loss on Gartner Investment amounted to
to the Consolidated Financial Statements.$84,880 in 2001. During the third quarter of 2001, IMS

decided to sell, and by August 29, 2001 completed the Gain (Loss) on Issuance of Investees’ Stock, net
sale of 1,555 shares of Class A common stock of Gart- resulted in a loss of $1,490 in 2001 compared with a gain
ner, Inc. (‘‘Gartner Shares’’) to Gartner and its remain- of $9,029 in the prior year, in accordance with Staff
ing holdings to several institutional investors. IMS Accounting Bulletin (‘‘SAB’’) No. 51, ‘‘Accounting for
received aggregate proceeds of $65,207, or $9.88 per Sales of Stock by a Subsidiary.’’ The net loss in 2001
share, from these sales. IMS’s cost basis in these shares resulted from a loss on the issuance of stock by TriZetto
was $77,743, or $11.78 per share. These sales divested of $6,679 primarily in connection with acquisitions, a
IMS of its remaining equity interest in Gartner. They secondary offering and stock option exercises, offset by
resulted in a pre-tax realized loss of $12,536 ($8,146, net a gain on the issuance of stock by CTS of $5,189 primar-
of applicable taxes), which was recorded in two different ily in connection with stock option exercises and
lines in the Consolidated Statements of Income: employee stock purchases. The $9,029 gain in the prior
(1) Income from Discontinued Operations, net of year resulted from the issuance of stock by TriZetto for
$72,344 ($47,025 net of applicable taxes), to reflect the an acquisition. As a result of stock issuances by CTS and
difference between the fair market value at the date of TriZetto, IMS’s ownership interest in CTS declined
the Gartner Spin-Off (July 26, 1999) and the book value from 60.5% to 58.3% and the Company’s ownership
of those shares; (2) a loss from dispositions in continu- interest in TriZetto was diluted from 33.2% to 26.8%
ing operations of $84,880, which was recorded as Loss from December 31, 2000 to December 31, 2001.
on Gartner Investment, to reflect the difference

Other Expense, net decreased to $17,342 in 2001between the fair market value at the date of the Gartner
from $27,374 in the prior year. The expense decline wasSpin-Off and the disposal proceeds. In 2000, IMS
primarily due to net foreign exchange gains of $4,955 inrecorded a similar loss of $6,896 to reflect the loss on
2001 compared with net foreign exchange losses ofshares contributed to Synavant as part of the Synavant
$1,023 in 2000, as well as a reduction in certainSpin-Off as well as a loss on warrants which expired on
non-recurring legal and professional expenses of $2,435December 1, 2000. A loss was recognized since the
in 2001, compared with $8,419 in the prior year.shares and warrants had a lower market value at the

date of the Synavant Spin-Off or expiration date com- IMS’s 2001 effective tax rate of 20.9% reflects the
pared with the value at the date of the Gartner Spin-Off financial statement impact of the expiration, without
(July 26, 1999). These transactions resulted in gains adjustment, on September 30, 2001, of the statute of
within income from discontinued operations in 2000 of limitations on certain previously-reserved-for Donnelley
$4,692 net of applicable taxes. Legacy transactions (approximately $21,033), and the

recognition of additional tax benefits arising from aGains (Losses) from Investments, net amounted to
1998 non-U.S. reorganization which gave rise to taxa net loss of $27,642 in 2001, compared to a net gain of
deductible amortization of non-U.S intangible assets$78,139 in the prior year. The 2001 loss is due primarily
(approximately $14,660), resulting from the reassess-to net write-downs of investments within IMS securities
ment of the tax benefits from this reorganization follow-portfolios of $30,213, an impairment loss of $1,955 on
ing certain new non-U.S. tax legislation enacted at theCTS’s investment in Questra Corporation in recognition
end of the first quarter of 2001. IMS’s 2000 effective taxof an other-than-temporary decline in value, partially
rate of 53.7% reflected principally the non-deductibleoffset by a $1,990 gain on the sale of IDRAC Hold-
U.S. Impairment Charge-Synavant, Spin and Relatedings Inc. (‘‘IDRAC’’), a non-strategic property that pro-
Costs and Severance, Impairment and Other Chargesvides information on pharmaceutical product registra-
(portions of which are non-deductible), and a reductiontions. The investment write-down related mainly to a
in net German deferred tax assets (principally non-U.S.refinement in IMS’s estimation approach for the assess-
intangible assets) due to a reduction in the Germanment of other than temporary declines in value of the
corporate tax rate from 40% to 25% ($17,655). Theseventure capital investments. See Notes 5 and 13 to the
were offset by the recognition of certain German tradeConsolidated Financial Statements. Gains in the prior
tax benefits on tax deductible amortization of non-U.S.year were due primarily to the sale of investments in
intangible assets resulting from a favorable GermanAmerican Cellular, Verisign Inc., Mercator
court decision ($19,355), and the recognition of the taxSoftware Inc., Viant Corporation, Aspect Develop-
benefit of certain net operating losses (‘‘NOLs’’) due toment Inc., I2 Technologies, and the partial sale of IMS’s

investment in e-Credit, net of selling expenses. the implementation of global tax planning strategies
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Position (continued)
Amounts in thousands, except per share data

($10,072). For all periods presented, IMS’s effective tax CTS SEGMENT
rate was reduced as a result of global tax planning IMS’s ownership interest in CTS decreased to
initiatives. While IMS intends to continue to seek global 58.3% (representing 93.3% of the outstanding voting
tax planning initiatives, there can be no assurance that power) at December 31, 2001 from 60.5% at Decem-
IMS will be able to successfully implement such initia- ber 31, 2000. This decrease was due to stock option
tives to reduce or maintain its overall tax rate. exercises and employee stock purchases at CTS.

CTS revenue, prior to the elimination of interseg-The TriZetto Equity Loss, net was $6,985 in 2001
ment sales, increased 29.7% to $177,778 in 2001 fromand $4,777 in 2000. The higher loss in 2001 reflects the
$137,031 in 2000. This increase resulted from higherfull-year impact of TriZetto, compared with only three
application development and integration, applicationmonths in the prior year, partially offset by improved
management, reengineering and other services. CTSTriZetto underlying financial results.
operating income increased 36.3% to $35,621 in 2001

Income from Discontinued Operations, net was from $26,129 in the prior year. The increase resulted
$47,025 in 2001, compared with $4,692 in the prior year. from the revenue growth noted above, partially offset by
The 2001 income resulted from the sale of Gartner the costs of additional technical professionals and sell-
shares in August 2001. The prior-year income reflects a ing and administrative expenses to support the revenue
gain on the Gartner shares contributed to Synavant as increase.
part of the Synavant Spin-Off and a gain on warrants

TRANSACTION BUSINESSES SEGMENTissued prior to the Gartner Spin-Off that expired on
December 1, 2000. These transactions are described All of the businesses included in the Transaction
above and in Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Businesses segment were spun off, divested or discon-
Statements. tinued in 2000. Therefore, there are no comparable

operating results in 2001.
Results by Business Segment

Results by Geographic Area
IMS SEGMENT

Total IMS revenue in the United States declined by
IMS Segment revenue increased 3.8% to 6.1% to $614,108 in 2001 from $653,965 in 2000. The

$1,173,954 in 2001 from $1,131,211 in 2000. Excluding decrease was primarily due to the Transaction Busi-
the $51,362 adverse impact of a generally stronger U.S. nesses Segment. Excluding revenue from the Transac-
dollar in 2001 revenue grew 8.5%. Sales management tion Businesses Segment, U.S. revenue was $548,329 in

2000 and increased 12.0% in 2001. This increase wasrevenue increased 7.0% (11.0% on a constant dollar
primarily due to new product growth at IMS and robustbasis, i.e., a basis that eliminates currency rate fluctua-
demand for CTS’s services, partially offset by a slow-tions) to $730,169 due to strong growth in sales manage-
down in non-contracted revenue at IMS.ment products in North America, particularly Ear-

lyview, the expansion of Xponent in Europe and the Non-U.S. revenue decreased 6.7% to $718,815 in
success of the Weekly Data product in Japan. Market 2001 from $770,394 in 2000. Non-U.S. operations
research revenue increased 2.0% (3.0% constant dollar) include principally Japan, the United Kingdom, Ger-
to $412,353 (6.5% on a constant dollar basis). Other many, Italy, France, Australia and other countries
revenue includes certain consultancy and other services within Europe, Latin America and the Far East. Exclud-
and decreased 30.1% (22.0% constant dollar) to ing revenue from the Transaction Businesses Segment,
$31,432. This decline is primarily due to IMS’s exit from non-U.S. revenue grew 1.9% in 2001, due to new prod-
certain small businesses. uct growth at IMS in Japan, Canada, and other coun-

tries, partially offset by a slowdown in non-contractedIMS Segment operating income was $288,540 in
revenue.2001, up 2.1% from $282,514 in the prior year, as a

result of revenue growth as well as cost-containment
Year-ended December 31, 2000 Compared with

actions initiated in the fourth quarter of 2000, in addi- Year-ended December 31, 1999
tion to the impact of the non-recurring expenses dis-

Operating Resultscussed above ($103,409 and $96,131 in 2001 and 2000,
respectively), partially offset by the unfavorable impact Revenue in 2000 increased 1.9% to $1,424,359
of a generally stronger U.S. dollar. Excluding these from $1,397,989 in 1999, primarily due to strong growth
expenses in both years, as well as the impact of foreign in the core business offset by the performance of the
currency movements, IMS Segment operating income Transaction Businesses Segment. The results of Syna-
grew 12.8%. vant and Erisco are included for only eight and nine
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Position (continued)
Amounts in thousands, except per share data

months respectively in 2000 and twelve months in 1999. Depreciation and amortization decreased 8.4% to
$92,000 in 2000 from $100,443 in 1999. This reductionIncluded within Synavant, Strategic Technologies reve-
was primarily due to the amortization of goodwill andnue declined in 2000 compared with 1999 for the peri-
intangibles of Synavant which was included in 2000 forods consolidated. Excluding the Transaction Businesses
eight months and for twelve months in 1999. ExcludingSegment, revenue increased 12.9%. This increase
the Transaction Businesses Segment, depreciation andreflected constant dollar double-digit revenue growth at
amortization increased by 2.4%.IMS and CTS and is further described in ‘‘Results by

Business Segment’’ below. On a constant dollar basis In 2000, in connection with the Synavant Spin-Off,
and excluding the Transaction Businesses Segment, IMS incurred $37,626 of costs. These costs included
2000 revenues increased by 16.4% over 1999. $8,813 for expenses related to reductions in the admin-

istrative workforce resulting from consolidation follow-IMS’s operating costs in 2000 were $549,259, com-
ing the Synavant Spin-Off. Additionally, a data process-pared with $551,099 in 1999, a decrease of 0.3%. This
ing agreement with a third party for $5,200 was nodecrease was due to the fact that the operating costs for
longer used by IMS as a result of IMS’s determinationSynavant and Erisco are included for eight and nine
to streamline its operations to focus on its core businessmonths, respectively, in 2000 and twelve months in
and a further data enhancement contract for $3,600 was1999. During 2000, IMS announced the formation of a
similarly no longer used. The remaining Synavantglobal data processing hub in Plymouth Meeting, Penn-
Spin-Off charges related primarily to legal, professionalsylvania. It is one of the world’s largest computer cen-
and other direct incremental costs. In 1999 the $9,500 ofters, handling 26 terabytes of data. The hub provides the
Spin and Related Costs reflected direct incrementaltechnology foundation for IMS’s global data processing
costs associated with the Gartner Spin-Off.and new Internet-based products. During the year, IMS

In addition, in connection with the Siebel Alliance,incurred $15,240 of technology acceleration costs in
more fully described in Note 6 to the Consolidatedconnection with the development of such products.
Financial Statements, Synavant assessed the impairmentExcluding the Transaction Businesses Segment in both
of its computer software (including acquired technol-years, technology acceleration costs incurred in 2000,
ogy), goodwill and other intangible assets and change inand the impact of Year 2000 remediation costs in 1999
intangible asset lives. As a result of this transaction,of $24,558, operating costs increased by 13.1% in 2000.
Synavant recorded an Impairment Charge of $115,453The operating cost increase was due to an increased
in the third quarter of 2000, comprised of $14,553 onnumber of technical professionals at CTS to meet the
computer software and $100,900 on goodwill. IMSincreased demand for services and an increase in the
recorded this impairment loss because the Siebel alli-operating costs of the IMS Segment to support higher
ance was signed prior to IMS’s Synavant Spin-Off. Thisrevenues and product launches. Excluding the Transac-
impairment was recorded in the Transaction Businessestion Businesses Segment, technology acceleration costs
Segment.and the impact of Year 2000 remediation costs dis-

cussed above, as a percentage of revenue, operating During 2000, IMS assessed its cost structure,
costs were relatively flat year-over-year, demonstrating directed towards streamlining its administrative infra-
IMS’s operating leverage and ability to grow revenue at structure costs, leveraging marketing and sales efforts
a rate which outpaces cost growth. following the creation of a global key account manage-

ment program, harmonizing global production activities,IMS’s selling and administrative expenses increased
global development, human resources and communica-by 4.5% to $416,006 in 2000 from $397,924 in 1999. This
tions. In connection with the actions taken to streamlinelow rate of increase was due to the inclusion of selling,
operations, IMS incurred charges for the impairment ofgeneral and administrative costs for Synavant and
certain assets as well as severance costs. IMS recorded aErisco for eight and nine months respectively in 2000
Severance, Impairment and Other Charge of $45,689versus twelve months in 1999. Excluding the Transaction
during the fourth quarter of 2000. See Note 8 to theBusinesses Segment in both years, and certain legal
Consolidated Financial Statements.costs of $4,069 incurred in 2000, selling and administra-

tive expenses increased by 8.5%. This increase in In the fourth quarter of 2000, IMS incurred a
expenses was primarily due to continued investment in charge of $31,133 relating to changes in executive man-
CTS sales and administrative functions and infrastruc- agement. Of this charge, approximately $23,000 related
ture. The selling and administrative cost of the IMS to Victoria R. Fash (previously President and Chief
Segment increased by 4.1%, demonstrating IMS’s ability Executive Officer) and Robert E. Weissman (previously
to increase revenue without significantly expanding its Chairman) arising principally from the acceleration or
existing administrative infrastructure. enhancement of previously existing employee benefits
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Position (continued)
Amounts in thousands, except per share data

obligations including stock options and pensions. This In 2000 the sale of Erisco to TriZetto resulted in a
charge also included the forgiveness of the balance, net pre-tax gain of $84,530. Additionally, due to issu-
including accrued interest due of $3,084 on a loan made ance of stock by TriZetto in connection with an acquisi-
to Ms. Fash during the year plus an accompanying tax tion in the fourth quarter of 2000, IMS recorded a
liability of $2,580. See Note 9 to the Consolidated pre-tax gain of $9,029.
Financial Statements. The remaining accrual at Decem- Other Expense, net increased to $27,374 in 2000
ber 31, 2001 amounted to approximately $13,400, pri- compared to $16,480 in 1999. This increase was primar-
marily relating to long-term pension benefits. ily due to non-recurring legal and professional expenses

Operating income in 2000 decreased to $137,193 in 2000, as well as higher minority interest expense
from $339,023 in 1999. This decline was primarily due to relating to the improved operating results of CTS.
the Synavant impairment charge of $115,453 and Spin IMS’s 2000 effective tax rate of 53.7% reflected
and Related Costs of $37,626 (both of which were principally the non-deductible U.S. Impairment
included in the Transaction Businesses Segment), Sever- Charge—Synavant, Spin and Related Costs and Sever-
ance, Impairment and Other Charges of $45,689 and ance, Impairment and Other Charges (portions of which
the Executive Management Transition Charge of are non-deductible), and a reduction in the net German
$31,133. Adjusting operating income in both years to deferred tax assets (principally non-U.S. intangible
exclude the Transaction Businesses Segment, charges in assets) due to a reduction in German corporate tax rate
2000 for technology acceleration, Severance, Impair- from 40% to 25% ($17,655). These are offset by the
ment and Other Charges, Executive Management Tran- recognition of certain German trade tax benefits on tax
sition Costs and certain legal charges and excluding in deductible amortization of non-U.S. intangible assets
1999, Spin and Related Costs and Year 2000 remedia- resulting from a favorable German court decision
tion costs, operating income increased by 18.6%. Oper- ($19,355), and the recognition of the tax benefit of
ating income growth outpaced revenue growth primarily certain NOL’s due to the implementation of global tax
due to IMS’s ability to continue to leverage its world- planning strategies ($10,072). The 1999 effective tax
wide resources and improve operating margins. If the rate of 28.1% reflected a non-deductible one-time Gart-
2000 and 1999 operating margins were adjusted to ner Spin and Related Costs. For all periods presented,
exclude the items discussed above, operating margin IMS’s effective tax rate was reduced as a result of global
improved to 32.3% in 2000 from 30.7% in 1999. Operat- tax planning initiatives. For example, to consolidate
ing margin improvements were a result of both opera- certain of its international operations, in 1999 IMS
tions and the impact of foreign exchange. engaged in a non-U.S. reorganization which gave rise to

Net interest expense was $13,308 in 2000 versus net the recognition of tax deductible amortization of
interest income of $635 in 1999. This increase in interest non-U.S. intangible assets. See Note 17 to the Consoli-
expense was due to a higher level of short-term borrow- dated Financial Statements. While IMS intends to con-
ings to fund IMS’s stock repurchase program and the tinue to seek global tax planning initiatives, there can be
payment of the Donnelley Legacy Tax Contingency (see no assurance that IMS will be able to successfully imple-
Note 21 to the Consolidated Financial Statements), as ment such initiatives to reduce or maintain its overall
well as cash payments to Synavant and Erisco. tax rate.

The Loss on Gartner Investment reflects a loss on TriZetto Equity Loss, net was $4,777 in 2000, fol-
shares contributed to Synavant and a loss on warrants lowing the acquisition of a 36.1% share of TriZetto on
which expired on December 1, 2000. A loss was recog- October 3, 2000.
nized since the shares and warrants had a lower market Income from Discontinued Operations, net was
value at the date of the Synavant Spin-Off or expiration $4,692, compared with $25,695 in 1999. Income from
date compared with the value at the date of the Gartner Discontinued Operations, net in 2000 reflects a gain on
Spin-Off (July 26, 1999). These transactions resulted in the Gartner shares contributed to Synavant as part of
gains within income from discontinued operations. The the Synavant Spin-Off and a gain on warrants issued
treatment within continuing and discontinued opera- prior to the Gartner Spin-Off that expired on Decem-
tions reflects the accounting adopted as of the date of ber 1, 2000. The treatment of the Gartner shares and
the Gartner Spin-Off. See Note 4 to the Consolidated warrants within continuing and discontinued operations
Financial Statements. reflects the accounting adopted as of the date of the

Gains (Losses) from Investments, net reflected net Gartner Spin-Off. See Note 4 to the Consolidated
pre-tax gains of $78,139 in 2000 compared to $25,264 in Financial Statements. Income from Discontinued Oper-
1999. The gains were due primarily to the sale of Enter- ations in 1999 was comprised of Gartner equity income
prise investments, net of selling expenses. through July 1999.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Position (continued)
Amounts in thousands, except per share data

Results by Business Segment was primarily due to the inclusion of only eight months
of Synavant revenue in 2000 versus twelve months inIMS SEGMENT
1999, and nine months of Erisco revenues in 2000 versus

IMS Segment revenue increased 9.1% to twelve months in 1999. An increase in Erisco revenues
$1,131,211 in 2000 from $1,037,025 in 1999. Excluding (software licenses and services) was offset by lower
the impact of foreign currency movements, revenue interactive marketing volumes and lower Synavant
grew 12.9%. Sales management revenue increased software fees.
13.8% (18.1% on a constant dollar basis) to $682,149

The Transaction Businesses Segment reported andue to strong growth in sales management products in
operating loss in 2000 of $171,450 compared to operat-North America, particularly Xponent, Xtrend, Ear-
ing income of $31,814 in 1999. This was primarily due tolyview and Sales Territory Products, the expansion of
the Synavant impairment charge of $115,453, Spin andXponent in Europe and the success of the Weekly Data
Related Costs of $37,626 and the impact of the reducedproduct in Japan. Market research revenue increased
revenues, explained above, on operating income.3.0% to $404,091 or 6.5% on a constant dollar basis.

Other revenue decreased 0.8% to $44,971. Other reve-
Results by Geographic Areanue includes certain consulting and other services. On a

constant dollar basis these revenues grew 0.5%. IMS Total IMS revenue in the United States increased
Segment operating income declined 2.8% in 2000 to by 11.4% to $653,965 in 2000 from $586,826 in 1999.
$282,514 from $290,564 in 1999. This decrease in oper- The increase reflected the strong performance of core
ating income was due to growth in the core IMS busi- business services, new product introductions and strong
ness which was more than offset by a number of revenue growth at CTS through the addition of new
one-time charges in 2000, including Severance, Impair- customers and transitioning existing customers from
ment and Other Charges, the Executive Management Y2K compliance services. This was partially offset by
Transition Charge and the technology acceleration the spin-off of the Synavant Business and disposal of
charge. Erisco in 2000.

Excluding the non-recurring charges in 2000 of Non-U.S. revenue decreased 5.0% to $770,394 in
$96,131 as well as Year 2000 remediation costs of 2000 from $811,163 in 1999. Non-U.S. operations
$24,558 and Gartner Spin-Off costs of $9,500 in 1999 include principally Japan, the United Kingdom, Ger-
operating income increased by 16.6% to $378,645 in many, Italy, France, Australia and other countries
2000 from $324,622 in 1999. This strong growth and within Europe, Latin America and the Far East. The
increasing margins (33.5% in 2000 versus 31.3% in decrease reflects the inclusion of Synavant revenues for
1999) reflect operating income growth which outpaced eight months in 2000 versus twelve months in 1999.
strong revenue growth due primarily to the segment’s

Non-U.S. Operating and Monetary Assetsability to leverage its established worldwide resources,
as well as the favorable impact of foreign exchange. IMS operates globally, deriving a significant por-

tion of its operating income from non-U.S. operations.
CTS SEGMENT As a result, fluctuations in the value of foreign curren-

IMS’s ownership interest in CTS decreased to cies relative to the U.S. dollar may increase the volatility
60.5% (representing 93.9% of the outstanding voting of U.S. dollar operating results. IMS enters into forward
power) at December 31, 2000 from 61.1% at Decem- foreign currency contracts to partially offset the effect
ber 31, 1999. This decrease was due to stock option of currency fluctuations. In 2001, foreign currency trans-
exercises and employee stock purchases at CTS. lation decreased U.S. dollar revenue growth by approxi-

mately 4.3%, while the impact on operating incomeCTS revenue, prior to the elimination of interseg-
growth was approximately 8.8%. In 2000, foreign cur-ment sales, increased 54.1% to $137,031 in 2000 from
rency translation decreased U.S. dollar revenue growth$88,904 in 1999. CTS operating income increased 57.0%
by approximately 3.8%, while the impact on operatingto $26,129 in 2000 from $16,645 in 1999. The increase
income growth was negligible.resulted primarily from an increase in application devel-

opment and integration, application management, Non-U.S. monetary assets are maintained in cur-
re-engineering and other services partially offset by a rencies other than the U.S. dollar, principally those of
decrease in Year 2000 compliance services. the Japanese yen, the Euro and the Swiss franc. Where

monetary assets are held in the functional currency of
TRANSACTION BUSINESSES SEGMENT the local entity, changes in the value of these currencies

Transaction Businesses Segment revenue decreased relative to the U.S. dollar are charged or credited to
40.6% to $170,385 in 2000 from $286,880 in 1999. This Cumulative Translation Adjustment in the Statements
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Position (continued)
Amounts in thousands, except per share data

of Shareholders’ Equity. The effect of exchange rate Erisco prior to its disposition, $10,679 in payments
changes during 2001 decreased the U.S. dollar amount made on the Erisco and TriZetto transaction and
of Cash and Cash Equivalents by $3,555. $27,343 to fund other investments primarily in Allscripts

and Enterprises, as well as other items amounting to
Liquidity and Capital Resources $15,608. Offsetting these amounts were lower proceeds

on sales of investments of $82,385 and higher spendingCash and Cash Equivalents increased $149,793 dur-
on business acquisitions of $32,085.ing 2001 to $268,386 versus $118,593 in the prior year.

The increase was driven by cash generated from operat- Net cash used in financing activities increased
ing activities of $325,305 offset by cash used in investing $44,757 during 2001 to $118,676 versus $73,919 in the
and financing activities of $53,281 and $118,676, respec- prior year. The increase in cash used is primarily related
tively and a negative foreign exchange impact on Cash to net repayments on debt during 2001 as compared to
and Cash Equivalents of $3,555. Cash and Cash Equiva- net borrowings during 2000 amounting to an increase in
lents include amounts at CTS of $84,977 and $61,976 as net cash outflows of $293,495. Offsetting this increase in
of December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The Com- cash outflows, in 2001 IMS paid $108,529 less cash to
pany owned 58.3% of the common shares outstanding repurchase shares under its share repurchase program,
which represented 93.3% of the voting power at Decem- received $119,834 more in proceeds from the exercise of
ber 31, 2001. To access these Cash and Cash Equiva- employee stock options and was not impacted by a
lents, the Company would have to require CTS to $19,438 payment made as a result of the Synavant
declare and pay a dividend. Furthermore, a portion of spin-off in 2000.
the dividend would be paid to the Minority Sharehold- Financing activities include cash dividends paid ofers of CTS. $0.08 per share annually ($0.02 per quarter), which

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities amounted to $23,641 and $23,686 during 2001 and 2000,
increased $155,593 during 2001 to $325,305 versus respectively. The payment and level of cash dividends by
$169,712 in the prior year. This increase relates primar- IMS are subject to the discretion of the Board of Direc-
ily to a $212,291 payment made to the Internal Revenue tors of IMS. Any future dividends will be based on and
Service during 2000 for which there was no comparable affected by a number of factors, including the operating
payment in 2001 and the receipt during 2001 of $10,530 results and the financial requirements of IMS.
from Nielsen Media Research, Inc. These amounts
relate to the Donnelley Legacy tax contingency as more Stock Repurchase Programs
fully described in Note 21 to the Consolidated Financial On July 19, 2000 the Board of Directors authorized
Statements. Adjusting for the impact of the payment a stock repurchase program to buy up to 40,000 shares
and receipt as described, cash from operations would of IMS’s outstanding common stock. As of Decem-
have amounted to $314,775 and $382,003 in 2001 and ber 31, 2001, 20,577 shares have been acquired under
2000, respectively, or a net decrease in cash provided of this program at a total cost of $517,129. During 2001,
$67,228. The most significant item causing this decrease IMS repurchased 12,124 shares at a total cost of
relates to approximately $32,300 in cash payments, in $310,482.
settlement of obligations accrued for during 2000 as

On October 19, 1999 the Board of Directors autho-part of the Synavant Spin and Related Cost accrual, the
rized a stock repurchase program to buy up to 16,000Executive Management Charge and the 2000 Severance,
shares of IMS’s outstanding common stock. This pro-Impairment and Other charge that were previously
gram was completed in October 2000 at a total cost ofaccrued.
$348,730.

Net cash used in investing activities decreased
On October 20, 1998 the Board of Directors autho-$36,379 to $53,281 from $89,660 in the prior year. The

rized a share repurchase program to buy up to 16,000decrease is attributable to $65,207 in Gartner proceeds
shares of the Company’s outstanding common stock.combined with the fact that 2001 was not impacted by
This program was completed in October 1999 at a totalthree significant outlays which occurred during 2000
cost of $478,302.consisting of $32,012 relating to a cash payment made to
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Position (continued)
Amounts in thousands, except per share data

Other Information During the fourth quarter of 2001, IMS renegoti-
ated with several banks and entered into three-year

During the fourth quarter of 2001, IMS completed lines of credit for borrowings of up to $175,000. Borrow-
the assessment of its Competitive Fitness Program. This ings under these three-year facilities are short-term in
program was designed to further streamline operations, nature; however, IMS has the ability and the intent to
increase productivity, and improve client service. IMS refinance the short-term borrowings through Decem-
recorded $94,616 of Severance, Impairment and Other ber 2004 as they come due. As such, at December 31,
Charges relating to the IMS Segment during the fourth 2001, the Company reclassified $150,000 of its then
quarter of 2001 as a component of operating income. outstanding debt as long-term debt pursuant to the

provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Stan-The cash portion of the 2001 charge amounted to
dards (‘‘SFAS’) No. 6, ‘‘Classification of Short-Term$64,205, primarily for severance payments and contract
Obligations Expected to be Refinanced.’’ Borrowingsterminations, with the non-cash portion accounting for
under short-term lines were $196,463 and $384,281 at$30,411, composed primarily of asset write-offs. Of the
December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. Borrowingscash portion, $46,348 is expected to be paid during
have maturity dates of up to ninety days from their2002.
inception. The borrowings were taken out primarily to

The impact on the 1999 cash flow from the support IMS’s share repurchase program and to fund
‘‘Calendarization’’ (see Note 20 to the Consolidated the Donnelley Legacy tax payment further described in
Financial Statements) was $30,664, which represents Note 21 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
cash flow from the IMS operating units for the month of
December 1998. Financial Reporting Release No. 61 was recently

released by the Securities and Exchange Commission
On July 23, 1999 Gartner paid a cash dividend to (‘‘SEC’’) to require all companies to include a discus-

its holders of record as of July 16, 1999. IMS’s portion sion to address, among other things, liquidity,
of this dividend was $52,877, net of taxes. On July 23, off-balance sheet arrangements, contractual obligations
1999, Gartner effected a recapitalization and on July 26, and commercial commitments. These matters are
1999 IMS distributed approximately 40.7 million Gart- addressed throughout this section and in Notes 5, 11,
ner Class B Common Stock to its shareholders. During 12, 13 and 18 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
the third quarter of 2001, IMS completed the sale of its
remaining interest in Gartner resulting in a net loss of

Contractual Obligations$8,146. See Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial State-
ments for a further discussion of the sale of Gartner

IMS’s contractual obligations include facility leases,shares.
agreements to purchase data and telecommunications
services and leases of certain computer and other equip-IMS has borrowing arrangements with several
ment. At December 31, 2001, the minimum annualinternational banks to provide lines of credit up to
payments under these agreements and other contracts$525,000 at December 31, 2001. Total borrowings under
that have initial or remaining non-cancelable terms inthese lines were $346,463 and $384,281 at December 31,
excess of one year are as listed in the following table:2001 and 2000, respectively. In general, the terms of

these lines of credit give IMS the option to borrow at an
Data and Computer

interest rate equal to LIBOR plus 37.5 basis points for Operating Telecommunication Equipment
Year Leases(1) Services(2) Leases(3) Totalshort-term lines and LIBOR plus 65 basis points for
2002 $19,222 $102,676 $17,599 $139,497long-term lines. The weighted average interest rates for

the short-term lines were 2.34% and 7.10% at Decem- 2003 17,107 79,557 13,373 110,037
ber 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. The weighted aver-

2004 12,607 47,822 7,316 67,745
age interest rates for the long-term lines were 2.48% at

2005 9,894 37,133 4,252 51,279December 31, 2001. The commitment fee associated
with the unused short-term lines of credit is 22.5 basis 2006 8,710 3,160 579 12,449
points per year, increasing to 28.75 basis points per year

Thereafter 9,645 2,490 116 12,251
if the facilities are less than 50% utilized. Under the
long-term lines the commitment fee is 52.5 basis points

Total $77,185 $272,838 $43,235 $393,258
per year. The borrowing arrangements require IMS to
comply with certain financial covenants and at Decem- (1) Rental expense under real estate operating leases for the years
ber 31, 2001 and 2000, IMS was in compliance with all 2001, 2000 and 1999 was $17,176, $18,911 and $26,656

respectively.such covenants.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Position (continued)
Amounts in thousands, except per share data

(2) Expense for data and telecommunications services for the years exchange rates. IMS’s objective is to reduce earnings
2001, 2000 and 1999 was $96,727, $85,858 and $73,061 and cash flow volatility associated with foreign exchange
respectively.

rate changes. Accordingly, IMS enters into foreign cur-
(3) Rental expense under computer and other equipment leases was rency forward contracts to minimize the impact of for-

$16,790, $14,348 and $22,248 for 2001, 2000 and 1999, respec- eign exchange movements on net income and on the
tively. These leases are frequently renegotiated or otherwise

value of non-functional currency assets and liabilities.changed as advancements in computer technology produce
opportunities to lower costs and improve performance.

It is IMS’s policy to enter into foreign currency
transactions only to the extent necessary to meet its

IMS may also be required to pay up to $36,720 objectives as stated above. IMS does not enter into
during 2002 to 2004 as contingent consideration under foreign currency transactions for investment or specula-the terms of one of its 2001 acquisitions. See Note 5 to

tive purposes. At December 31, 2001, all foreign cur-the Consolidated Financial Statements.
rency forward contracts had a term of less than one
year. The principal currencies hedged are the JapaneseCommitments also include ‘‘Capital Calls’’ which

are required payments pursuant to the Enterprises yen, the Euro and the Swiss franc.
agreements. At December 31, 2001 the Company is

The fair value of IMS’s hedging instruments, esti-obligated to contribute a maximum of $7,000 to meet
mated at $131,591 at December 31, 2001, is subject tocapital call requirements over the remaining life of the
change as a result of potential changes in foreignEnterprises venture capital investments.
exchange rates. IMS assesses its market risk based on

IMS believes that its available funds and the cash changes in foreign exchange rates utilizing a sensitivity
flows expected to be generated from operations will be analysis. The sensitivity analysis measures the potential
adequate to satisfy its current and planned operations loss in fair values based on a hypothetical 10% change
and needs for at least the next 12 months. IMS’s ability in currency rates. The potential loss in fair value for
to expand and grow its business in accordance with foreign exchange rate-sensitive instruments, all of which
current plans, to make acquisitions, repurchase stock were forward foreign currency contracts, based on a
and to meet its long-term capital requirements beyond hypothetical 10% decrease in the value of the U.S.
this 12-month period will depend on many factors, dollar or, in the case of non-dollar-related instruments,
including the rate, if any, at which its cash flow the currency being purchased, was $9,112 at Decem-
increases, its ability and willingness to accomplish acqui- ber 31, 2001. However, the change in the fair value of
sitions, repurchase treasury stock and the availability to foreign exchange rate-sensitive instruments would likely
IMS of public and private debt and equity financing, be offset by a change in the fair value of the asset or
including its current ability to secure bank lines of liability being hedged. The estimated fair values of the
credit. IMS cannot be certain that additional financing, foreign exchange risk management contracts were
if required, will be available on terms favorable to it, if determined based on quoted market prices.
at all.

IMS also invests in equity securities and is subject
to equity price risk. These investments are classified asYear 2000
available for sale and consequently, carried at fair value,

External and internal costs totaling $79,299 to with unrealized gains and losses, net of income taxes,
address the Year 2000 issue were expensed as incurred reported as a component of shareholders’ equity. IMS
through December 31, 1999, of which $24,558 was does not hedge this market risk exposure. IMS assesses
incurred in 1999. These costs were primarily related to its market risk based on changes in market prices utiliz-
repairing software. This does not include the costs of ing a sensitivity analysis. The sensitivity analysis mea-
software and systems that were replaced or enhanced in sures the potential loss in fair values based on a hypo-
the normal course of business. thetical 10% decrease in the market price of these

securities. A 10% decline in the market price of these
Market Risk equity securities would cause the fair value of the secu-

rities to decrease by $2,716 at December 31, 2001.IMS’s primary market risks are the impact of for-
eign exchange fluctuations on non-dollar-denominated IMS also borrows funds and since the interest rate
revenue, the impact of price fluctuations on equity secu- associated with those borrowings changes over time,
rities and the impact of interest rate fluctuations on IMS is subject to interest rate risk. IMS has not hedged
interest expense. this exposure. IMS assesses its market risk based on

changes in interest rates utilizing a sensitivity analysis.IMS transacts business in more than 100 countries
The sensitivity analysis measures the increase in annualand is subject to risks associated with changing foreign
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interest expense based on a hypothetical 1% increase in operating on a global basis, including fluctuations in the
interest rates, which would have amounted to $3,464 at value of foreign currencies relative to the U.S. dollar,
December 31, 2001. and the ability to successfully hedge such risks; to the

extent IMS seeks growth through acquisitions, alliances
or joint ventures, the ability to identify, consummateEuro Conversion
and integrate acquisitions, alliances and ventures on

On January 1, 1999, 11 member countries of the satisfactory terms; the ability to develop new or
European Union established fixed conversion rates advanced technologies, systems and products for their
between their existing currencies and the European businesses on time and on a cost-effective basis includ-
Union’s common currency (‘‘Euro’’). The transition ing but not limited to those that use or are related to the
period for the introduction of the Euro was between Internet; the ability to identify and implement
January 1, 1999 and January 1, 2002. cost-containment measures; the ability to successfully

maintain historic effective tax rates and to achieve esti-IMS instituted plans for the introduction of the
mated corporate overhead levels; competition, particu-Euro and addressed the related issues, including the
larly in the markets for pharmaceutical information;conversion of information technology systems, recalcu-
regulatory, legislative and enforcement initiatives, par-lating currency risk, recalibrating derivatives and other
ticularly in the area of medical privacy and tax; thefinancial instruments, continuity of contracts, taxation
ability to timely and cost-effectively resolve anyand accounting records and the increased price trans-
problems associated with the Euro currency issue,parency resulting from the use of a single currency in
including the possibility of problems with internal datathe eleven participating countries which may affect the
processing systems; the ability to obtain future financingability of some companies to price products differently

in various European markets. IMS believes that differ- on satisfactory terms; deterioration in economic condi-
ences in national market size, data collection require- tions, particularly in the pharmaceutical, healthcare, or
ments and specific product specifications required due other industries in which IMS’s customers may operate;
to the diverse market information needs in the health- consolidation in the pharmaceutical industry and the
care markets of Europe will reduce the potential for other industries in which IMS’s customers operate; con-
price harmonization in most of IMS’s product ranges. ditions in the securities markets which may affect the
The introduction of the Euro did not have a material value or liquidity of portfolio investments and manage-
adverse effect on IMS’s results of operations during ment’s estimates of lives of assets, recoverability of
2001 or 2000. assets, fair market value, estimates and liabilities and

accrued income tax benefits and liabilities and related
Forward-Looking Statements contingencies; failure of third parties to convert their

information technology systems to the Euro currency in
This 2001 Annual Report to Shareholders, as well a timely manner and actions of government agencies

as information included in oral statements or other and other third parties with respect to Euro currency
written statements made or to be made by IMS, contain issues; and terrorist activity, the threat of such activity,
statements which, in the opinion of IMS, may constitute and responses to and results of such activity and threats,
‘‘forward-looking statements’’ within the meaning of the including but not limited to effects, domestically and/orPrivate Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These

internationally, on IMS, its personnel and facilities, itsstatements appear in a number of places in this Annual
customers and suppliers, financial markets and generalReport and include, but are not limited to, all state-
economic conditions. Consequently, all the forward-ments relating to plans for future growth and other
looking statements contained in this Annual Report tobusiness development activities as well as capital
Shareholders are qualified by the information containedexpenditures, financing sources, dividends and the
herein, including, but not limited to, the informationeffects of regulation and competition, Euro conversion
contained under this heading and the Consolidatedand all other statements regarding the intent, plans,
Financial Statements and Notes thereto and by thebeliefs or expectations of IMS or its directors or
material set forth under the headings ‘‘Business’’ andofficers. Stockholders are cautioned that such forward-
‘‘Factors that May Affect Future Results’’ in IMS’slooking statements are not assurances for future per-
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year endedformance or events and involve risks and uncertainties
December 31, 2001. IMS is under no obligation tothat could cause actual results and developments to
publicly release any revision to any forward-lookingdiffer materially from those covered in such forward-
statement contained or incorporated herein to reflectlooking statements. These risks and uncertainties

include, but are not limited to, risks associated with any future events or occurrences.
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Critical Accounting Policies the software, when persuasive evidence of an arrange-
ment exists, the related fees are fixed or determinable

Financial Reporting Release No. 60, which was and collection of fees is reasonably assured. Revenues
recently released by the SEC, requires all companies to from post-contract customer support (maintenance) are
include a discussion of critical accounting policies or recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the
methods used in the preparation of financial statements. arrangement.
Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Revenues from time and material service agree-includes a summary of the significant accounting poli-
ments are recognized as the services are provided. Rev-cies and methods used in the preparation of IMS’s
enues from fixed price service contracts which relateConsolidated Financial Statements. Following is a brief
primarily to CTS are recognized over the contract termdiscussion of the more significant accounting policies
based on the percentage of costs incurred for servicesand methods used by IMS.
provided during the period compared to the total esti-

Management’s discussion and analysis of its results mated costs of services to be provided over the entire
of operations and financial position are based upon its arrangement. Anticipated losses on contracts are recog-
Consolidated Financial Statements, which have been nized immediately. Under the terms of these contracts,
prepared in accordance with accounting principles gen- all services provided by IMS through the date of cancel-
erally accepted in the United States of America. The lation are due and payable.
preparation of financial statements in accordance with

Goodwill. Goodwill represents the excess pur-these principles requires management to make esti-
chase price over the fair value of identifiable net assetsmates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of businesses acquired. The Company amortizes good-of assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses and the
will on a straight-line basis over five to forty years. Inrelated disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities.
accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 142 good-

On an ongoing basis, IMS evaluates its estimates. will arising on acquisitions completed since July 1, 2001
The most significant estimates relate to the allowance is no longer amortized. IMS periodically reviews the
for doubtful accounts, inventories, investments, depreci- recoverability of goodwill, not identified with impaired
ation of fixed assets including salvage values, carrying long-lived assets, based on estimated undiscounted
value of intangible assets and computer software, provi- future cash flow from operating activities compared
sion for income taxes and tax assets and liabilities, with the carrying value of goodwill and recognizes any
reserves for severance, pensions and reserves for impairment on the basis of such comparison. The recog-
employee benefits, contingencies and litigation. IMS nition and measurement of goodwill impairment is
bases its estimates on historical experience and on vari- assessed at the business unit level. Goodwill may
ous other assumptions that are believed to be reason- become impaired as a result of several factors such as
able under the circumstances, the results of which form increased competition and lower demand for the Com-
the basis for making judgments about the carrying val- pany’s products and services.
ues of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent

Other Long-Lived Assets. In accordance with thefrom other sources. Actual results could vary from the
provisions of SFAS No. 121, ‘‘Accounting for the Impair-estimates and assumptions used in the preparation of
ment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assetsthe accompanying financial statements.
to Be Disposed Of,’’ IMS reviews for the impairment of
long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangiblesIMS believes the following critical policies affect its
held and used whenever events or changes in circum-more significant judgments and estimates used in the
stances indicate that the carrying amount of an assetpreparation of its Consolidated Financial Statements.
may not be recoverable. In general, this statement

Revenue Recognition. IMS recognizes revenue as requires recognition of an impairment loss when the
earned, which is over the service period as the informa- sum of undiscounted expected future cash flow is less
tion is delivered or related services are performed. A than the carrying amount of such assets. Accordingly,
substantial portion of IMS’s revenue is derived from IMS recognizes impairment losses on long-lived assets
subscription based services. Advance payments for ser- as a result of its review. The measurement for such
vices and subscriptions are credited to deferred revenue impairment loss is then based on the fair value of the
and reflected in operating revenue over the subscription asset measured by its discounted future cash flows or
term, which is generally one year. market value, if more readily determinable.

IMS also derives a portion of its revenues from Income Taxes. IMS operates in more than 100
software licenses which is recognized upon delivery of countries around the world and its earnings are taxed at
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the applicable income tax rate in each of those coun- of Shareholders’ Equity whereas transaction gains and
losses are recognized in Other Expense, net. For opera-tries. IMS provides for income taxes utilizing the asset
tions in countries that are considered to be highly infla-and liability method of accounting for income taxes.
tionary or where the U.S. dollar is designated as theUnder this method, deferred income taxes are recorded
functional currency, monetary assets and liabilities areto reflect the tax consequences in future years of differ-
translated using end-of-period exchange rates, whereasences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and
non-monetary accounts are translated using historicaltheir financial reporting amounts at each balance sheet
exchange rates, and all translation and transactiondate, based on enacted tax laws and statutory tax rates
adjustments are recognized in Other Expense, net.applicable to the periods in which the differences are

expected to affect taxable income. If it is determined
Investments. IMS carries direct equity investmentsthat it is more likely than not that future tax benefits

in private companies and interests in venture capitalassociated with a deferred tax asset will not be realized,
entities in the financial statements at cost. On a quar-a valuation allowance is provided. In the event IMS
terly basis IMS makes periodic estimates of the marketwere to determine that it would be able to realize its
value of these investments and reduces the carryingdeferred tax assets in the future in excess of its net
value of the investments if there is an other-than-tem-recorded amount, an adjustment to the deferred tax
porary decline in their fair value below cost. IMS evalu-asset would increase income in the period such determi-
ates the recoverability of the underlying securities innation was made. Likewise, should IMS determine that
each venture capital entity on an individual basis. If theit would not be able to realize all or part of its net
market price of these equity securities declines by adeferred tax asset in the future, an adjustment to the
significant amount there could be a material impact ondeferred tax asset would be charged to income in the
IMS’s financial statements.period such determination was made. The effect on

deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in the tax
Recently Issued Accounting Standardsrates is recognized in income in the period that includes

the enactment date. While IMS intends to continue to Effective January 1, 2001 IMS adopted SFAS
seek global tax planning initiatives, there can be no No. 133. ‘‘Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
assurance that IMS will be able to successfully imple- Hedging Activities,’’ as amended. Additional discussion
ment such initiatives to reduce or maintain its overall of IMS’s derivative and hedging activities is included in
tax rate. IMS intends to indefinitely reinvest the undis- Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
tributed earnings of non-U.S. subsidiaries other than

In July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standardsthe Indian earnings of CTS. CTS management currently
Board (‘‘FASB’’) issued SFAS No. 141, ‘‘Business Com-intends to repatriate all Indian earnings to the U.S. and
binations,’’ and SFAS No. 142 ‘‘Goodwill and Otherhas provided deferred U.S. income taxes on all such
Intangible Assets.’’ SFAS No. 141 requires the purchaseIndian undistributed earnings. Deferred tax liabilities
method of accounting to be used for all business combi-for U.S. federal income taxes have not been recognized
nations initiated after June 30, 2001 and establishesfor all other undistributed earnings. If such earnings are
specific criteria for the recognition of intangible assetsrepatriated in the future, or are no longer deemed to be
separately from goodwill. IMS adopted SFAS No. 141indefinitely reinvested, applicable taxes will be provided
on July 1, 2001 and is not amortizing goodwill acquiredfor on such amounts. It is not currently practicable to
subsequent to June 30, 2001. SFAS No. 142 addressesdetermine the amount of applicable taxes. See Note 17
the initial recognition and measurement of intangibleto the Consolidated Financial Statements.
assets acquired outside of a business combination and

Foreign Currency Translation. IMS has significant the accounting for goodwill and other intangible assets
investments in non-U.S. countries. Therefore, changes subsequent to their acquisition. SFAS No. 142 provides
in the value of foreign currencies affect IMS’s Consoli- that goodwill and intangible assets which have indefinite
dated Financial Statements when translated into U.S. useful lives will not be amortized but rather will be
dollars. Impacts associated with foreign currency have tested at least annually for impairment. It also provides
been more fully discussed in the section entitled ‘‘Mar- that intangible assets that have finite useful lives be
ket Risk.’’ For all operations outside the United States amortized. Under the provisions of SFAS No. 142, any
of America where IMS has designated the local cur- impairment loss identified upon adoption of this stan-
rency as the functional currency, assets and liabilities dard is recognized as a cumulative effect of a change in
are translated using end-of-period exchange rates; reve- accounting principle. Any impairment loss incurred sub-
nues and expenses are translated using average rates of sequent to initial adoption of SFAS No. 142 is recorded
exchange. For these countries, currency translation as a charge to current period earnings. IMS will adopt
adjustments are accumulated in a separate component SFAS No. 142 beginning January 1, 2002 and at that
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Position (continued)
Amounts in thousands, except per share data

time will stop amortizing goodwill that resulted from IMS Health Common Stock Information
business combinations completed prior to the adoption IMS’s common stock is listed on the New York
of SFAS No. 141. IMS recorded goodwill amortization Stock Exchange (symbol ‘‘RX’’). The number of share-
of $10,316 and $19,120 during 2001 and 2000, respec- holders of record and shares outstanding on Decem-
tively. IMS also recorded amortization expense related ber 31, 2001 and 2000, were 6,056 and 6,607, respec-
to equity method investees of approximately $9,600 and tively (not in thousands; refers to actual number of
$2,400 in 2001 and 2000, respectively. IMS has six shareholders) and 294,088 and 291,342, respectively.
months from January 1, 2002 to complete the first step Approximately 77% of IMS’s shares are held by institu-
of the transitional goodwill impairment test. IMS is tions. The high and low closing stock price per share
currently evaluating the financial impact of adoption of during 2001 were $30.20 and $18.99, respectively. The
SFAS No. 142; however, it does not believe that there following table shows the high and low closing stock
will be a material adverse impact on IMS’s financial price per share during the four quarters of 2001 and
position, results of operations or cash flows. 2000:

Price Per
Share($)

In October 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, 2001
‘‘Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of High Low
Long-Lived Assets.’’ SFAS No. 144 eliminates the

First Quarter 27.33 22.50requirement for discontinued operations to be mea-
Second Quarter 30.20 24.30

sured on a net realizable value basis and future operat- Third Quarter 28.50 23.60
ing losses to be recognized before they occur. Instead, it Fourth Quarter 27.60 18.99
requires that assets held for sale be valued at the lower

Year 30.20 18.99
of carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell.

Price Per
SFAS 144 extends the reporting requirements for dis- Share($)
continued operations to certain components of an 2000(1)
entity. Under the provisions of SFAS No. 144, spin-offs High Low
and exchanges of similar productive assets are required First Quarter 25.86 15.98
to be recorded at the lower of carrying value or fair Second Quarter 17.56 14.33
value and such assets classified as held and used until Third Quarter 20.75 15.86
they are disposed of. Any resultant impairment loss is Fourth Quarter 28.56 19.94
required to be recognized when the asset is disposed of. Year 28.56 14.33
For assets that are grouped when an entity is developing
estimates of future cash flows, SFAS No. 144 requires
that the remaining useful life of the ‘‘primary asset’’ be

(1) Share prices for periods prior to the Synavant Spin-Off
used for the entire group. In addition, SFAS No. 144 on August 31, 2000 are adjusted to give effect to the
permits the use of a probability-weighted approach in estimated impact of that Spin-Off on IMS share prices
developing estimates of future cash flows used to test based on the share price of IMS and Synavant immedi-
for recoverability and in estimating fair value. IMS will ately prior and immediately after the Synavant Spin-Off.

The 2000 high and low per share price unadjusted for theadopt SFAS No. 144 beginning January 1, 2002 and is
Synavant Spin-Off were as follows: $26.50 and $16.38 incurrently evaluating the impact of the adoption; how-
the first quarter and $18.00 and $14.69 in the secondever, IMS does not believe that there will be a material
quarter, respectively.adverse impact on IMS’s financial position, results of

operations or cash flows.

Dividends

The payments and level of cash dividends by IMS
are subject to the discretion of the Board of Directors of
IMS. For the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000,
IMS declared quarterly dividends of $0.02 per share, or
$0.08 per share on an annual basis. Any future divi-
dends will be based on, and affected by, a number of
factors, including the operating results and financial
requirements of IMS.
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STATEMENT OF MANAGEMENT’S
RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORT OF INDEPENDENT
STATEMENTS ACCOUNTANTS

To the Shareholders of IMS Health Incorporated: To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of IMS
Health Incorporated:Management is responsible for the preparation of

the consolidated financial statements and related infor- In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated
mation that are presented in this report. The consoli- statements of financial position and the related consoli-
dated financial statements, which include amounts dated statements of income, shareholders’ equity and
based on management’s estimates and judgments, have cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the
been prepared in conformity with accounting principles financial position of IMS Health Incorporated and its
generally accepted in the United States of America. subsidiaries at December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the
Other financial information in the report to sharehold- results of their operations and their cash flows for each
ers is consistent with that in the consolidated financial of the three years in the period ended December 31,
statements. 2001, in conformity with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States of America. These finan-The Company maintains accounting and internal cial statements are the responsibility of the Company’scontrol systems to provide reasonable assurance at rea- management; our responsibility is to express an opinionsonable cost that assets are safeguarded against loss on these financial statements based on our audits. Wefrom unauthorized use or disposition, and that the conducted our audits of these statements in accordancefinancial records are reliable for preparing financial with auditing standards generally accepted in thestatements and maintaining accountability for assets. United States of America, which require that we planThese systems are augmented by written policies, an and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assuranceorganizational structure providing division of responsi- about whether the financial statements are free of mate-bilities, careful selection and training of qualified per- rial misstatement. An audit includes examining, on asonnel and a program of internal audits. test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclo-
The Company engaged PricewaterhouseCoopers sures in the financial statements, assessing the account-

LLP, independent accountants, to audit and render an ing principles used and significant estimates made by
opinion on the consolidated financial statements in management, and evaluating the overall financial state-
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted ment presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
in the United States of America. These standards reasonable basis for our opinion.
include an assessment of the systems of internal controls
and tests of transactions to the extent considered neces-
sary by them to support their opinion.

The Board of Directors, through its Audit Commit-
tee consisting solely of outside directors of the Com-
pany, meets periodically with management, internal PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
auditors and our independent accountants to ensure New York, New York
that each is meeting its responsibilities and to discuss February 11, 2002
matters concerning internal controls and financial
reporting. PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and the inter-
nal auditors each have full and free access to the Audit
Committee.

David M. Thomas
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and President

Nancy E. Cooper
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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IMS Health Incorporated

Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
As of December 31,

Amounts in thousands, except per share data 2001 2000

Assets:
Current Assets:
Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 268,386 $ 118,593
Accounts Receivable, net 228,626 230,988
Other Receivable (Note 21) 33,361 41,136
Other Current Assets 126,472 132,813
Net Assets of Discontinued Operations — 60,799

Total Current Assets 656,845 584,329

Securities and Other Investments 51,992 87,500
TriZetto Equity Investment 119,896 137,501
Property, Plant and Equipment, net 149,084 145,447
Computer Software 116,540 117,688
Goodwill 148,597 144,100
Other Assets 124,600 91,596

Total Assets $ 1,367,554 $ 1,308,161

Liabilities, Minority Interests and Shareholders’ Equity:
Current Liabilities:
Accounts Payable $ 33,327 $ 45,198
Accrued and Other Current Liabilities 196,215 219,726
Short-Term Debt 196,463 384,281
Accrued Income Taxes 108,941 81,856
Short-Term Deferred Tax Liability 10,684 15,812
Deferred Revenues 89,861 96,095

Total Current Liabilities 635,491 842,968

Post-retirement and Post-employment Benefits 44,305 43,471
Long-Term Debt (Note 14) 150,000 —
Other Liabilities 174,373 182,840

Total Liabilities $ 1,004,169 $ 1,069,279

Commitments and Contingencies (Notes 18 and 21)
Minority Interests $ 145,019 $ 135,342
Shareholders’ Equity:
Preferred Stock, Par Value $.01 Per Share, Authorized—10,000 Shares; Outstanding—None — —
Series Common Stock, Par Value $.01 Per Share, Authorized—10,000 Shares; Outstanding—None — —
Common Stock, Par Value $.01, Authorized 800,000 Shares; Issued 335,045 Shares in 2001 and

2000, respectively 3,350 3,350
Capital in Excess of Par 504,776 596,273
Retained Earnings 921,925 760,140
Treasury Stock, at cost, 40,957 Shares and 43,703 Shares in 2001 and 2000, respectively (1,078,914) (1,139,298)
Cumulative Translation Adjustment (138,123) (106,417)
Minimum Pension Liability Adjustment (3,746) (672)
Unrealized Loss on Gartner, Inc., net of tax benefit — (20,946)
Unrealized Gain on Investments, net of tax expense 9,098 11,110

Total Shareholders’ Equity $ 218,366 $ 103,540

Total Liabilities, Minority Interests and Shareholders’ Equity $ 1,367,554 $ 1,308,161

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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IMS Health Incorporated

Consolidated Statements of Income

Years Ended December 31,

Amounts in thousands, except per share data 2001 2000 1999

Operating Revenue $1,332,923 $1,424,359 $1,397,989

Operating Costs 494,411 549,259 551,099
Selling and Administrative Expenses 344,100 416,006 397,924
Depreciation and Amortization 69,178 92,000 100,443
Severance, Impairment and Other Charges 94,616 45,689 —
Terminated Transaction Costs 6,457 — —
Spin and Related Costs — 37,626 9,500
Impairment Charge—Synavant — 115,453 —
Executive Management Transition Charge — 31,133 —

Operating Income 324,161 137,193 339,023

Interest Income 9,053 4,332 8,225
Interest Expense (18,059) (17,640) (7,590)
Loss on Gartner Investment (Note 4) (84,880) (6,896) —
Gains (Losses) from Investments, net (27,642) 78,139 25,264
Gain on Sale of Erisco — 84,530 —
Gain (Loss) on Issuance of Investees’ Stock, net (Notes 11 and 12) (1,490) 9,029 —
Other Expense, net (Note 11) (17,342) (27,374) (16,480)

Non-Operating Income (Loss), net (140,360) 124,120 9,419

Income Before Provision for Income Taxes 183,801 261,313 348,442
Provision for Income Taxes (38,415) (140,412) (98,076)
TriZetto Equity Loss, net of Income Tax Benefit of $4,504 for 2001 and $3,080 for 2000 (6,985) (4,777) —

Income from Continuing Operations 138,401 116,124 250,366
Income from Discontinued Operations, net of Income Taxes of $25,320, $2,526 and

$12,635 for 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively (Note 4) 47,025 4,692 25,695

Net Income $ 185,426 $ 120,816 $ 276,061

Basic Earnings Per Share of Common Stock:
Income from Continuing Operations $ 0.47 $ 0.39 $ 0.80
Income from Discontinued Operations 0.16 0.02 0.08

Basic Earnings Per Share of Common Stock $ 0.63 $ 0.41 $ 0.88

Diluted Earnings Per Share of Common Stock:
Income from Continuing Operations $ 0.46 $ 0.39 $ 0.78
Income from Discontinued Operations 0.16 0.02 0.08

Diluted Earnings Per Share of Common Stock $ 0.62 $ 0.40 $ 0.86

Weighted Average Number of Shares Outstanding—Basic 295,162 296,077 311,976
Dilutive Effect of Shares Issuable as of Period End Under Stock Option Plans 3,654 2,203 6,065
Adjustment of Shares Outstanding Applicable to Exercised and Cancelled Stock

Options During the Period 1,331 1,758 1,520

Weighted Average Number of Shares Outstanding—Diluted 300,147 300,038 319,561

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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IMS Health Incorporated

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years Ended December 31,

Amounts in thousands, except per share data 2001 2000 1999

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net Income $ 185,426 $ 120,816 $ 276,061
Less Income from Discontinued Operations (47,025) (4,692) (25,695)

Income from Continuing Operations 138,401 116,124 250,366
Adjustments to reconcile Net Income to Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities:

Depreciation and Amortization 69,178 92,000 100,443
Bad Debt Expense 3,930 3,378 2,143
Deferred Income Taxes (2,342) 45,983 18,085
(Gain) Loss from Investments, net 27,642 (78,139) (25,264)
(Gain) Loss on Issuance of Investees’ Stock, net 1,490 (9,029) —
TriZetto Equity Loss, net 6,985 4,777 —
Minority Interests in Net Income of Consolidated Companies 19,466 17,222 14,260
Non-Cash Portion of Severance, Impairment and Other Charges 30,411 35,341 —
Non-Cash Portion of Executive Management Transition Charge — 18,951 —
Non-Cash Portion of Synavant Spin and Related Costs — 1,946 —
Impairment Charge—Synavant — 115,453 —
Loss on Gartner Investment 84,880 6,896 —
Gain on Sale of Erisco — (84,530) —

Change in assets and liabilities, excluding effects from acquisitions and dispositions:
Net (Increase) Decrease in Accounts Receivable (11,243) (34,401) 3,125
Net (Increase) Decrease in Inventory (5,028) 971 (5,128)
Net (Increase) Decrease in Prepaid Expenses (2,393) 10,079 (3,382)
Net (Decrease) Increase in Accounts Payable (10,817) 14,462 (4,745)
Net (Decrease) Increase in Accrued and Other Current Liabilities (47,941) 11,882 (31,181)
Net (Decrease) Increase in Accrued Severance, Impairment and Other Charges 28,117 39,129 —
Net (Decrease) Increase in Deferred Revenues (4,400) 6,843 (7,031)
Net (Decrease) Increase in Accrued Income Taxes (31,787) 40,413 41,317
Increase in Pension Assets, net (19,135) (8,894) (1,352)
Net Income Tax Benefit on Stock Option Exercises 28,256 12,631 7,224
Receipts (Payments) on Donnelley Legacy Tax Contingency 10,530 (212,291) —
Other Operating Items, net 11,105 2,515 (11,560)

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 325,305 169,712 347,320

Cash Flows Used in Investing Activities:
Capital Expenditures (34,293) (33,433) (32,989)
Additions to Computer Software (49,858) (50,646) (59,284)
Payments for Acquisitions of Businesses, Net of Cash Acquired (43,318) (11,233) (38,809)
Proceeds from Sale of Investments, net 1,052 83,437 51,442
Proceeds from Sale of IDRAC Holdings Inc., net 2,862 — —
Proceeds from Sale of Gartner Investment 65,207 — —
Cash Payment to Erisco prior to Disposition — (32,012) —
Erisco and TriZetto Transaction Costs — (10,679) —
Net (Increase) Decrease in Other Investments 122 (27,343) (19,408)
Other Investing Activities, net 4,945 (7,751) (3,711)

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities (53,281) (89,660) (102,759)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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IMS Health Incorporated

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (continued)
Years Ended December 31,

Amounts in thousands, except per share data 2001 2000 1999

Cash Flows Used in Financing Activities:
Payments for Purchase of Treasury Stock (310,482) (419,011) (517,030)
Proceeds from Exercise of Stock Options 249,607 129,773 31,453
Dividends Paid (23,641) (23,686) (25,043)
Proceeds from Employee Stock Purchase Plan 2,459 2,087 4,229
Short-Term (Repayments) Borrowings, net (37,823) 255,672 92,242
Synavant Dividend — (19,438) —
Other Financing Activities, net 1,204 684 (128)

Net Cash Used in Financing Activities (118,676) (73,919) (414,277)

Effect of Exchange Rate Changes (3,555) (3,415) (4,340)
Impact of change in year end of the IMS Health operating units — — 30,664
Cash Flow Provided by Discontinued Operations — — 52,877

Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 149,793 2,718 (90,515)
Cash and Cash Equivalents, Beginning of Period 118,593 115,875 206,390

Cash and Cash Equivalents, End of Period $ 268,386 $ 118,593 $ 115,875

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information:
Cash Paid during the Period for Interest $ 20,376 $ 14,981 $ 7,491
Cash Paid during the Period for Income Taxes (Exclusive of payment of $212,291

Donnelley Legacy Tax Contingency in 2000, see Note 21.) $ 36,812 $ 47,925 $ 67,490
Cash Received from Income Tax Refunds $ 4,000 $ 14,438 $ 42,903
Non-Cash Investing Activities:

Dividend of Gartner Class B Shares — — $ 134,259
Synavant Spin-Off Dividend — $ 122,005 —
Equity Investment in TriZetto — $ 100,650 —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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IMS Health Incorporated

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

Amounts in thousands, except per share data

Other Comprehensive Income

Unrealized MinimumShares Capital in Cumulative Gains Pension
Common Treasury Common Excess of Par Retained Treasury Translation (Losses) on Liability Comprehensive

Stock Stock Stock Value Earnings Stock Adjustment Investments Adjustment Income Total

Balance, December 31, 1998 335,045 16,304 $3,350 $669,853 $686,653 $ (473,810) $ (84,149) $ 23,373 $ — $825,270

Net Income from IMS
Operations for the
Month of December
1998 1,040 1,040 1,040

Change in Cumulative
Translation Adjustment
(Note 20) 3,409 3,409 3,409

Total Comprehensive
Income 4,449

Balance, January 1, 1999 335,045 16,304 $3,350 $669,853 $687,693 $ (473,810) $ (80,740) $ 23,373 $ — $829,719

Net Income 276,061 276,061 276,061
Cash Dividends ($0.08 per

share) (25,043) (25,043)
Stock Dividend of Gartner

Shares (134,259) 2,155 (132,104)
Prepaid Employee Stock

Option Plan Exercise or
Cancellation (245) (245)

Treasury Shares Acquired 18,565 (517,030) (517,030)
Treasury Stock Reissued

Under:
Exercise of Stock

Options (1,874) (16,585) 55,262 38,677
Restricted Stock Plan 4,028 4,028

Less: Unearned
Portion 118 (4,028) (4,028)

Plus: Earned Portion
of Grants (63) 3,589 3,589

Employee Stock
Purchase Plan (149) 4,229 4,229

Cumulative Translation
Adjustment (17,650) (17,650) (17,650)

Unrealized Gain on
Gartner Securities, net
of taxes of $9,198 17,081 17,081 17,081

Unrealized Gain on Other
Investments, net of
amount realized of
$17,388, net of taxes of
$6,562 17,938 17,938 17,938

Total Comprehensive
Income 293,430

Balance, December 31, 1999 335,045 32,901 $3,350 $653,023 $804,452 $ (927,760) $ (96,235) $ 58,392 $ — $495,222

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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IMS Health Incorporated

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity (continued)

Amounts in thousands, except per share data

Other Comprehensive Income

Unrealized MinimumShares Capital in Cumulative Gains Pension
Common Treasury Common Excess of Par Retained Treasury Translation (Losses) on Liability Comprehensive

Stock Stock Stock Value Earnings Stock Adjustment Investments Adjustment Income Total

Balance, December 31, 1999 335,045 32,901 $3,350 $653,023 $804,452 $ (927,760) $ (96,235) $ 58,392 $ — $495,222

Net Income 120,816 120,816 120,816
Cash Dividends ($0.08 per

share) (23,685) (23,685)
Synavant Spin-Off

Dividend (141,443) (141,443)
Prepaid Employee Stock

Option (1,998) (1,998)
Accelerated Stock Options 3,330 3,330
Treasury Shares Acquired 18,989 (419,011) (419,011)
Treasury Stock Reissued

Under:
Exercise of Stock

Options (7,981) (58,082) 200,487 142,405
Restricted Stock Plan (73) 4,899 4,899
Employee Stock

Purchase Plan (133) 2,087 2,087
Cumulative Translation

Adjustment (10,182) (10,182) (10,182)
Minimum Pension Liability

Adjustment (672) (672) (672)
Unrealized Loss on

Gartner Securities, net
of taxes of $11,263 (38,027) (38,027) (38,027)

Unrealized Loss on Other
Investments—Net of
amount realized of
$23,664, net of taxes of
$18,808 (30,201) (30,201) (30,201)

Total Comprehensive
Income 41,734

Balance, December 31, 2000 335,045 43,703 $3,350 $596,273 $760,140 $(1,139,298) $(106,417) $ (9,836) $ (672) $103,540

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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IMS Health Incorporated

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity (continued)

Amounts in thousands, except per share data

Other Comprehensive Income

Unrealized MinimumShares Capital in Cumulative Gains Pension
Common Treasury Common Excess of Par Retained Treasury Translation (Losses) on Liability Comprehensive

Stock Stock Stock Value Earnings Stock Adjustment Investments Adjustment Income Total

Balance, December 31, 2000 335,045 43,703 $3,350 $596,273 $760,140 $(1,139,298) $(106,417) $ (9,836) $ (672) $103,540

Net Income 185,426 185,426 185,426
Cash Dividends ($0.08 per

share) (23,641) (23,641)
Prepaid Employee Stock

Option (1,691) (1,691)
Accelerated Stock Options 2,099 2,099
Shares issued in connection

with a prior year acquisition (53) 818 818
Treasury Shares Acquired 12,124 (310,482) (310,482)
Treasury Stock Reissued

Under:
Exercise of Stock

Options (14,518) (92,212) 365,018 272,806
Restricted Stock Plan (170) 2,571 2,571
Employee Stock

Purchase Plan (129) 2,459 2,459
Board Deferred Stock

Compensation 307 307
Cumulative Translation

Adjustment (31,706) (31,706) (31,706)
Minimum Pension Liability

Adjustment (3,074) (3,074) (3,074)
Unrealized Gain on

Gartner Securities, net
of Amount Realized of
$8,148, net of taxes of
$4,388 20,946 20,946 20,946

Unrealized Loss on Other
Investments, Net of
amount realized of
$1,450, net of taxes of
$781 (2,012) (2,012) (2,012)

Total Comprehensive
Income 169,580

Balance, December 31, 2001 335,045 40,957 $3,350 $504,776 $921,925 $(1,078,914) $(138,123) $ 9,098 $(3,746) $218,366

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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IMS Health Incorporated

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Amounts in thousands, except per share data

Note 1. Basis of Presentation Media Research, Inc. (‘‘NMR’’), to Cognizant’s share-
holders (the ‘‘Cognizant Spin-Off’’). NotwithstandingIMS Health Incorporated (‘‘IMS’’ or the ‘‘Com-
the form of the Cognizant Spin-Off, the Company waspany’’) is a leading global provider of information solu-
deemed the ‘‘accounting successor’’ to Cognizant. Thetions to the pharmaceutical and healthcare industries.
consolidated financial statements of the Company haveThe Company operates in more than 100 countries.
been reclassified to reflect NMR as a discontinued

On August 31, 2000, the Company spun-off the operation for periods up to and including June 30, 1998.
businesses of Synavant, Inc. (‘‘Synavant’’) by distribut-

The above changes to the business are more fullying the stock of Synavant to the Company’s sharehold-
discussed in Notes 4, 5, 7, 12, 16 and 23.ers (the ‘‘Synavant Spin-Off’’). The Synavant businesses

include: the pharmaceutical industry automated sales During the year ended December 31, 2001, the
and marketing support businesses previously operated Company consisted of the following segments:
by IMS Health Strategic Technologies Inc., and certain

1. The IMS Segment is a leading global providerother foreign subsidiaries of the Company; substantially
of market information, sales management andall of the Company’s interactive and direct marketing
decision-support services to the pharmaceuti-business, including the business of Clark O’Neill, Inc.,
cal and healthcare industries. Its key productswhich was a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company;
include sales management information to opti-and a majority stake in a foreign joint venture. On
mize sales force productivity, marketing effec-October 3, 2000, the Company sold Erisco Managed
tiveness research for prescription andCare Technologies, Inc. (‘‘Erisco’’) to The TriZetto
over-the-counter pharmaceutical products,Group, Inc. (‘‘TriZetto’’) in exchange for an equity
consulting and other services. The IMS Seg-interest in TriZetto and entered into a technology and
ment is managed on a global business modeldata alliance with TriZetto. These transactions, together
with global leaders for the majority of its criti-with the divestitures or discontinuation of three small
cal business processes. In addition the IMSnon-strategic software businesses, have resulted in a
Segment includes the Company’s venture capi-company concentrated on the Company’s core data bus-
tal unit, Enterprises, which is focused oniness of providing market information and decision sup-
investments in emerging businesses and IMS’sport services to the pharmaceutical industry. At Decem-
26.8% equity interest in TriZetto.ber 31, 2001 the Company also owned the venture

capital unit—Enterprise Associates, LLC (‘‘Enter- 2. The CTS Segment delivers full life-cycle solu-
prises’’) and a 58.3% interest in Cognizant Technology tions to complex software development and
Solutions Corporation (‘‘CTS’’). The Company also maintenance problems that companies face as
owned approximately 26.8% of TriZetto’s common they transition to e-business. These services
stock as at December 31, 2001 and accounts for are delivered through the use of a seamless
TriZetto under the equity method of accounting. on-site and offshore consulting project team.

CTS’s primary service offerings include appli-On January 15, 1999, the Company effected a
cation development and integration, applica-2-for-1 stock split. All prior period share and per share
tion management and re-engineering services.information has been revised accordingly.
IMS accounts for CTS as a consolidated

On July 26, 1999, the Company completed a subsidiary.
spin-off of the majority of its equity investment in Gart-

During the years ended December 31, 2000 andner, Inc. (‘‘Gartner’’, formerly known as ‘‘Gartner
1999, the Company also included:Group Inc.’’) to the Company’s shareholders (the

‘‘Gartner Spin-Off’’). The Consolidated Financial State-
3. The Transaction Businesses Segment, whichments of the Company have been reclassified for all

consisted of: (a) Synavant, which serves theperiods presented to reflect the Gartner equity invest-
pharmaceutical industry by developing andment as a discontinued operation. During the third
selling pharmaceutical relationship manage-quarter of 2001, the Company sold its remaining inter-
ment solutions that support sales and market-est in Gartner.
ing decision-making; (b) Erisco, a leading sup-

On June 30, 1998, the Company’s common stock plier of software-based administrative and
was distributed by Cognizant Corporation (‘‘Cogni- analytical solutions to the managed care indus-
zant’’), which subsequently changed its name to Nielsen try; and (c) three small non-strategic software
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businesses. The Company spun off the Syna- equal to or greater than the carrying value of the invest-
vant business on August 31, 2000 and sold ment, and such decline in market value is determined to
Erisco to TriZetto and entered into a strategic be other than temporary, the carrying amount is
alliance with TriZetto on October 3, 2000. The reduced to its estimated net realizable value, which
Company also divested or discontinued the becomes the new cost basis. The amount of the reduc-
other small non-strategic software businesses. tion is reported as a realized loss in the period which it
See Notes 7, 12, 16 and 23. is determined. Any recovery of such reductions in the

cost basis of an investment is recognized in income onlyAll prior year segment information has been reclas-
upon the sale, repayment or other disposition of thesified to conform with the December 31, 2001
investment.presentation.

Property, Plant and Equipment. Buildings, machin-Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
ery and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated

Consolidation. The Consolidated Financial State- over their estimated useful lives to their salvage values
ments of the Company include the accounts of the using principally the straight-line method. Leasehold
Company, its subsidiaries and investments in which the improvements are recorded at cost and amortized on a
Company has control. Material intercompany accounts straight-line basis over the shorter of the term of the
and transactions are eliminated. Investments in compa- lease or the estimated useful life of the improvement.
nies over which the Company has significant influence During 2001, the Company changed the estimated sal-
but not a controlling interest are accounted for under vage value of two buildings with a net book value of
the equity method of accounting. The Company recog- approximately $43,000 from $0 to approximately
nizes in the income statement any gains or losses related $43,000. The effect of this change in accounting esti-
to the issuance of stock by a consolidated subsidiary or mate was to reduce depreciation expense by approxi-
an investment accounted for under the equity method. mately $700 for the year ended December 31, 2001 and

approximately $1,100 per year in future years. Based onCash and Cash Equivalents. Cash and Cash
additional available appraisal information, the Com-Equivalents include primarily time and demand deposits
pany believes the revised salvage value represents ain the Company’s operating bank accounts. The Com-
more accurate estimate. The change has beenpany considers all highly liquid investments with a
accounted for prospectively. See Note 22.maturity of 90 days or less at the time of purchase to be

cash equivalents.
Computer Software. Direct costs incurred in the

Securities and Other Investments. Marketable development of computer software are capitalized in
securities, principally consisting of equity securities, are accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
classified as available-for-sale. Such securities are car- Standards (‘‘SFAS’’) No. 86, ‘‘Accounting for the Costs
ried at fair value, with the unrealized gains and losses, of Computer Software to be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise
net of income taxes, reported as a component of share- Marketed.’’ Research and Development costs incurred
holders’ equity. Any gains or losses from the sale of to establish technological feasibility of a computer
these securities are recognized in income using the software product are expensed in the periods in which
specific identification method. Direct equity invest- they are incurred. Capitalization ceases and amortiza-
ments in private companies and interests in venture tion starts when the product is available for general
capital entities are carried at cost. See Note 13. release to customers. Computer software costs are being

amortized, on a product by product basis, over three toThe Company periodically evaluates the business
seven years. Annual amortization is the greater of theprospects and financial position of each issuer whose
amount computed using (a) the ratio that gross reve-securities are held. The Company pays special attention
nues for a product bear to the total of current andto those securities whose market values have declined
anticipated future gross revenues for that product, ormaterially for reasons other than changes in interest
(b) the straight-line method over the remaining esti-rates or other general market conditions. The Company
mated economic life of the product. The Company peri-evaluates the realizable value of the investment, the
odically reviews the unamortized capitalized costs ofspecific condition of the issuer and the issuer’s ability to
computer software products based on a comparison ofcomply with the material terms of the security. Informa-
the carrying value of computer software with its esti-tion reviewed may include the recent operational results
mated net realizable value and changes in softwareand financial position of the issuer, information about
technology. The Company recognizes immediately anyits industry, recent press releases and other information.
impairment losses on capitalized software as a result ofIf evidence does not exist to support a realizable value
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its review or upon its decision to discontinue a product. service and consulting contracts are recognized over the
contract term based on the percentage of costs incurredSee Notes 6 and 8.
for services provided during the period compared to the

The Company capitalizes internal-use software total estimated costs of services to be provided over the
costs once certain criteria in Statement of Position 98-1, entire arrangement. Anticipated losses on contracts are
‘‘Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Devel- recognized immediately. Under the terms of these con-
oped or Obtained for Internal Use’’ have been met. tracts, all services provided by the Company through the

date of cancellation are due and payable.Goodwill. Goodwill represents the excess pur-
chase price over the fair value of identifiable net assets Foreign Currency Translation. The Company has
of businesses acquired and is amortized on a significant investments in non-U.S. countries. There-
straight-line basis over five to forty years. In accordance fore, changes in the value of foreign currencies affect
with the provisions of SFAS 142, goodwill arising on the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements
acquisitions completed since July 1, 2001 is no longer when translated into U.S. dollars. For all operations
amortized. The Company periodically reviews the outside the United States of America where the Com-
recoverability of goodwill, not identified with impaired pany has designated the local currency as the functional
long-lived assets, based on estimated undiscounted currency, assets and liabilities are translated using
future cash flow from operating activities compared end-of-period exchange rates; revenues and expenses
with the carrying value of goodwill and recognizes any are translated using average rates of exchange. For
impairment on the basis of such comparison. The recog- these countries, currency translation adjustments are
nition and measurement of goodwill impairment is accumulated in a separate component of Shareholders’
assessed at the business unit level. See Notes 6 and 8. Equity whereas transaction gains and losses are recog-

nized in Other Expense, net. For operations in countriesOther Long-Lived Assets. In accordance with the
that are considered to be highly inflationary or whereprovisions of SFAS No. 121, ‘‘Accounting for the Impair-
the U.S. dollar is designated as the functional currency,ment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets
monetary assets and liabilities are translated usingto Be Disposed Of,’’ the Company reviews for impair-
end-of-period exchange rates, whereas non-monetaryment long-lived assets and certain identifiable
accounts are translated using historical exchange rates,intangibles held and used whenever events or changes in and all translation and transaction adjustments are rec-

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an ognized in Other Expense, net.
asset may not be recoverable. In general, this statement
requires recognition of an impairment loss when the Income Taxes. The Company provides for income
sum of undiscounted expected future cash flows is less taxes utilizing the asset and liability method of account-
than the carrying amount of such assets. Accordingly, ing for income taxes. Under this method, deferred
the Company recognizes impairment losses on income taxes are recorded to reflect the tax conse-
long-lived assets as a result of its review. The measure- quences in future years of differences between the tax
ment for such impairment loss is then based on the fair basis of assets and liabilities and their financial report-
value of the asset measured by its discounted future ing amounts at each balance sheet date, based on
cash flows or market value, if more readily enacted tax laws and statutory tax rates applicable to the
determinable. periods in which the differences are expected to affect

taxable income. If it is determined that it is more likely
Revenue Recognition. The Company recognizes than not that future tax benefits associated with a

revenue as earned, which is over the service period as deferred tax asset will not be realized, a valuation allow-
the information is delivered or related services are per- ance is provided. The effect on deferred tax assets and
formed. Advance payments for services and subscrip- liabilities of a change in the tax rates is recognized in
tions are credited to deferred revenue and reflected in income as an adjustment to income tax expense in the
operating revenue over the subscription term, which is period that includes the enactment date.
generally one year. Revenues from software licenses are
recognized upon delivery of the software, when persua- Use of Estimates. The preparation of financial
sive evidence of an arrangement exists, the related fees statements and related disclosures in conformity with
are fixed or determinable and collection of fees is rea- generally accepted accounting principles in the United
sonably assured. Revenues from post-contract customer States of America requires management to make esti-
support (maintenance) are recognized on a straight-line mates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
basis over the term of the arrangement. Revenues from of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the
time and material service agreements are recognized as disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Actual
the services are provided. Revenues from fixed price results could differ from those estimates. The most
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significant estimates are made in the accounting for: effect of a change in accounting principle. Any impair-
allowance for uncollectible accounts receivable, depreci- ment loss incurred subsequent to initial adoption of
ation and amortization, carrying value of investments, SFAS No. 142 is recorded as a charge to current period
capitalized software costs, employee benefit plans, taxes earnings. The Company will adopt SFAS No. 142 begin-
including tax benefits and liabilities, reserves for sever- ning January 1, 2002 and at that time will stop amortiz-
ance, contingencies, the fair value of certain assets, ing goodwill that resulted from business combinations
salvage values of property and purchase price completed prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 141. The
allocations. Company recorded goodwill amortization of $10,316

and $19,120 during 2001 and 2000, respectively. The
Earnings Per Share. Basic earnings per share are Company also recorded goodwill amortization expense

calculated by dividing net income by weighted average related to equity method investees of approximately
common shares outstanding. Diluted earnings per share $9,600 and $2,400 in 2001 and 2000, respectively. The
are calculated by dividing net income by dilutive poten- Company has six months from January 1, 2002 to com-
tial common shares. Dilutive potential common shares plete the first step of the transitional goodwill impair-
are calculated in accordance with the treasury stock ment test. The Company is currently evaluating the
method, which assumes that the net proceeds from the financial impact of adoption of SFAS No. 142; however,
exercise of all stock options are used to repurchase it does not believe that there will be a material adverse
common stock at market value. The amount of shares impact on the Company’s financial position, results of
remaining after the net proceeds are exhausted repre- operations or cash flows.
sent the potentially dilutive effect of the securities.

In October 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144,
Reclassifications. Certain prior year amounts have ‘‘Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of

been reclassified to conform with the 2001 presentation. Long-Lived Assets.’’ SFAS No. 144 eliminates the
This includes a reclassification of current and requirement for discontinued operations to be mea-
non-current deferred tax assets and liabilities to reflect sured on a net realizable value basis and future operat-
them by tax jurisdiction. ing losses to be recognized before they occur. Instead, it

requires that assets held for sale be valued at the lower
Note 3. Summary of Recent Accounting of carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell. SFAS

Pronouncements No. 144 extends the reporting requirements for discon-
Effective January 1, 2001 the Company adopted tinued operations to certain components of an entity.

SFAS No. 133, ‘‘Accounting for Derivative Instruments Under the provisions of SFAS No. 144, spin-offs and
and Hedging Activities,’’ as amended. Additional dis- exchanges of similar productive assets are required to
cussion of the Company’s derivative and hedging activi- be recorded at the lower of carrying value or fair value
ties is included in Note 14. and such assets classified as held and used until they are

disposed of. Any resultant impairment loss is requiredIn July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards
to be recognized when the asset is disposed of. ForBoard (‘‘FASB’’) issued SFAS No. 141, ‘‘Business Com-
assets that are grouped when an entity is developingbinations,’’ and SFAS No. 142 ‘‘Goodwill and Other
estimates of future cash flows, SFAS No. 144 requiresIntangible Assets.’’ SFAS No. 141 requires the purchase
that the remaining useful life of the ‘‘primary asset’’ bemethod of accounting to be used for all business combi-
used for the entire group. In addition, SFAS No. 144nations initiated after June 30, 2001 and establishes
permits the use of a probability-weighted approach inspecific criteria for the recognition of intangible assets
developing estimates of future cash flows used to testseparately from goodwill. The Company adopted SFAS
for recoverability and in estimating fair value. The Com-No. 141 on July 1, 2001 and is not amortizing goodwill
pany will adopt SFAS No. 144 beginning January 1, 2002acquired subsequent to June 30, 2001. SFAS No. 142
and is currently evaluating the impact of the adoption;addresses the initial recognition and measurement of
however, the Company does not believe that there willintangible assets acquired outside of a business combi-
be a material adverse impact on the Company’s finan-nation and the accounting for goodwill and other intan-
cial position, results of operations or cash flows.gible assets subsequent to their acquisition. SFAS

No. 142 provides that goodwill and intangible assets
Note 4. Discontinued Operations—Investment inwhich have indefinite useful lives will not be amortized

Gartner Stockbut rather will be tested at least annually for impair-
ment. It also provides that intangible assets that have On November 11, 1998, the Company announced
finite useful lives be amortized. Under the provisions of that its Board of Directors had approved to spin-off
SFAS No. 142, any impairment loss identified upon substantially all of its equity ownership of Gartner. As
adoption of this standard is recognized as a cumulative provided for under a Distribution Agreement, entered
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into between Gartner and the Company, 40,690 Gartner During the third quarter of 2001, the Company
Class A Shares were converted into an equal number of decided to sell, and by August 29, 2001, completed the
Gartner Class B Shares. As a result of the then pro- sale of 1,555 shares of Class A common stock of Gart-
posed Gartner Spin-Off, the Company ceased recogni- ner, Inc. (‘‘Gartner Shares’’) to Gartner and its remain-
tion of gains in accordance with Staff Accounting Bulle- ing holding in Gartner Shares to several institutional
tin (‘‘SAB’’) No. 51, ‘‘Accounting for Sales of Stock by a investors. The Company received aggregate proceeds of
Subsidiary,’’ in the fourth quarter of 1998. $65,207 or $9.88 per share, from these sales. The Com-

pany’s cost basis in these shares was $77,743 or $11.78On July 16, 1999, subject to Gartner shareholder
per share. These sales divest the Company of its remain-approval, the Boards of Directors of Gartner and the
ing equity interest in Gartner. The sale of shares toCompany approved the final plan, terms and conditions
Gartner was part of Gartner’s $75,000 stock buybackgoverning the Gartner Spin-Off. Upon Gartner share-
program announced on July 19, 2001. These salesholder approval, which was obtained on July 16, 1999, in
resulted in a pre-tax realized loss of $12,536 ($8,146, netaccordance with Accounting Principles Board (‘‘APB’’)
of applicable taxes), which was recorded in two differentNo. 30, ‘‘Reporting the Results of Operations—Effects
lines in the income statement: (1) Income from Discon-of Disposal of a Segment of a Business and Extraordi-
tinued Operations of $72,344 ($47,025 net of applicablenary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and
taxes), to reflect the difference between the fair marketTransactions,’’ the financial statements of the Company
value at the date of the Gartner Spin-Off (July 26, 1999)were reclassified to reflect the Gartner equity invest-
and the book value of those shares; (2) a loss fromment as a discontinued operation for the periods
dispositions in continuing operations of $84,880 whichpresented.
was recorded as a Loss on Gartner Investment, to

On July 16, 1999, the Company’s Board of Direc- reflect the difference between the fair market value at
tors declared a dividend of all Gartner Class B Shares, the date of the Gartner Spin-Off and the disposal
which was distributed on July 26, 1999 to holders of the proceeds.
Company’s common stock of record as of July 17, 1999.
The transaction was structured as a tax-free distribution There were no sales of Gartner shares during the
of Gartner stock to the Company’s shareholders and the year ended December 31, 2000. The Company had,
Company received a favorable ruling from the Internal however, agreed to contribute 312 Gartner Class ARevenue Service (‘‘IRS’’). The distribution consisted of

Shares to Synavant as part of the Synavant Spin-Off0.1302 Gartner Class B Shares for each outstanding
described in Note 7. This contribution had a fair marketshare of the Company’s common stock (the ‘‘Gartner
value of $4,000 at the date of the Synavant Spin-Off,Distribution’’). See Note 21.
and resulted in a gross realized gain of $3,424 which was

On July 23, 1999, Gartner paid a cash dividend to recorded as income from discontinued operations net of
its holders of record as of July 16, 1999. The Company’s applicable taxes of $1,198, to reflect the difference
portion of this dividend was $52,877, net of taxes and between the fair market value at the date of the Gartner
was accounted for as a reduction in the carrying value of Spin-Off (July 26, 1999) and the book value of those
the equity investment. The remaining investment in shares; and a loss from dispositions of $3,102 which was
Gartner Stock subsequent to the Gartner Distribution reflected in Loss on Gartner Investment to reflect the
was classified as available-for-sale. difference between the fair market value at the date of

the Gartner Spin-Off (July 26, 1999) and the date of theThe unrealized gain as of the date of the Gartner
Synavant Spin-Off (August 31, 2000). Warrants to pur-Distribution (based on the then market price per share
chase a further 599 Gartner Class A Shares expired onof $22.75 of Gartner Stock, the price at the time of the
December 1, 2000, and resulted in a realized gain ofGartner Distribution) was recorded as a component of
$3,794 which was recorded in income from discontinuedOther Comprehensive Income and included as a com-
operations net of applicable taxes of $1,328 to reflectponent of Shareholders’ Equity. Subsequent changes in
the fair market value of the warrants at the date of thethe per share price of Gartner Stock since the date of
Gartner Spin-Off (July 26, 1999), and a loss of $3,794the Gartner Distribution were also recorded as Other
which was recorded in Loss on Gartner InvestmentComprehensive Income. Upon the sale of these securi-
within results from continuing operations to reflectties, the unrealized gain measured based on the value of
expiration of the unexercised warrants on December 1,the Gartner shares as of the date of the Gartner Distri-
2000.bution was recognized in discontinued operations. The

unrealized gains or losses in the market value subse-
The Company incurred costs of $9,500 in 1999 inquent to the date of the Gartner Distribution were

recognized in continuing operations as shares were sold. connection with the Gartner distribution.
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Note 5. Acquisitions and Dispositions $17 million, which was recognized as revenue upon
delivery in 2001.Acquisitions

In the third quarter of 2000, senior management ofDuring 2001, the Company completed five acquisi-
GIC Gesellschaft für Informationstechnologie und Con-tions with an aggregate cash purchase price of $43,318.
sulting GmbH, formerly a wholly-owned subsidiary ofThe 2001 acquisitions were; (a) Meridian Research
the Company, and its newly-formed affiliated company,Vietnam Ltd. (Vietnam), (b) the exercise of the Com-
GIC Global Information Technology and Consultingpany’s option to purchase the remaining non-controlling
GmbH (collectively, ‘‘GIC’’) completed a managementinterests in Medicare Audits Limited (U.K.), (c) the
buy-out of the Company’s data processing centerremaining interest in GPI Krankenhaus-forschung
located in Frankfurt, Germany. Under the terms of theGesellschaft für Pharma-informationssysteme mbH
purchase agreement, the aggregate purchase price of(Germany), (d) Cambridge Pharma Consultancy, Ltd.
$6,100 was paid to the Company in monthly installments(U.K. and U.S.) and (e) Medical Data Systems Limited
from July 1, 2000 to August 1, 2001 in the form of data(Ireland). Under the terms of the earn out within the processing and technology solution services provided by

purchase agreement for one of the acquisitions, the GIC. The Company recognized the fair market value of
Company may be required to pay additional amounts as the services received and a pre-tax gain of $3,066 in the
contingent consideration totaling up to $36,720 based second half of 2000 in respect to services rendered by
on the achievement of certain targets during 2002 GIC in 2000. The remaining portion of the gain
through 2004. Of the contingent consideration, up to amounting to $1,493 was recognized in 2001, as services
$13,760 will be recorded as additional goodwill, while were rendered in accordance with the agreement. The
up to $22,960 will be recorded as compensation as impact of this transaction was reflected in operating
earned in accordance with the provisions of Emerging costs in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of
Issues Task Force (‘‘EITF’’) Statement No. 95-8, Income. Since the completion of the management
‘‘Accounting for Contingent Consideration Paid to the buy-out, GIC continued to occupy a sizable portion of
Shareholders of an Acquired Enterprise in a Purchase space from the Company under a sublease agreement.
Business Combination.’’ The maximum contingent con- During 2001, the sublease arrangement, which was due
sideration payable with respect to any given year in the to expire in March 2002, was extended for a five-year
earn out period is $12,420. These acquisitions were period ending in 2007. Further, during the third quarter
recorded under the purchase method of accounting and of 2001, the Company agreed to make a $2,000 loan to
the Company has preliminarily recorded a total of GIC’s management in order to provide GIC with addi-
$40,271 in goodwill and intangible assets, including tional liquidity to grow the business. The operating costs
approximately $16,000 in customer relationships, as a of the Frankfurt data center were not material to the
result of these acquisitions. The intangible assets will be Company’s consolidated operating results in any of the
amortized over periods ranging from five to ten years. periods presented.
Had these acquisitions occurred as of January 1, 2001 or

As described in Notes 1, 7 and 12, Synavant was2000, the impact on the Company’s results of operations
spun-off to the Company’s shareholders on August 31,would not have been significant. In accordance with
2000 and Erisco was sold to TriZetto on October 3,SFAS No. 142, goodwill of approximately $12,100 has
2000. The results of Erisco and Synavant are included innot been amortized, as the acquisitions were completed
the Consolidated Statements of Income and Cash Flowssubsequent to June 30, 2001.
through their respective disposition dates.

Dispositions
Note 6. Impairment Charge—Synavant

In the first quarter of 2001, the Company recorded
On July 14, 2000, Synavant entered into a 5-yeara pre-tax gain of $1,990 on the sale of IDRAC Hold-

strategic alliance with Siebel Systems, Inc. (‘‘Siebel’’), aings Inc. (‘‘IDRAC’’), a non-strategic property that pro-
leading provider of e-business applications software (thevides information on pharmaceutical product registra-
‘‘Alliance’’). Through the Alliance, the companiestions, to a wholly owned subsidiary of Information
intend to jointly develop, market and sell pharmaceuti-Holdings Inc. (‘‘IHI’’). This gain is included in Gain
cal and healthcare related versions of Siebel’s e-business(Loss) from Investments, net in the Consolidated State-
software applications.ments of Income. The operating results of IDRAC were

not significant to the results of operations of the Com- Under the terms of the Alliance the extent to which
pany. In a separate transaction, the Company sold a Synavant may independently develop, integrate, market,
non-exclusive perpetual license to IHI to use certain license or distribute products that are directly competi-
data for aggregate cash consideration of approximately tive with those packaged and promoted by Siebel is
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limited. Although Synavant may continue to license and (the ‘‘IMS Common Stock’’) held. In lieu of fractional
support its existing Cornerstone and Premiere custom- shares of Synavant Common Stock, each IMS share-
ers, under the terms of the Alliance, it is contractually holder received a cash payment representing such
obligated to discontinue the future enhancement and holder’s proportionate interest in the net proceeds from
development of the Cornerstone and Premiere prod- the sale by the distribution agent for the Synavant Dis-
ucts. Synavant management anticipates that these prod- tribution of the aggregate fractional shares of Synavant
ucts would eventually be phased out and replaced by a Common Stock. The Synavant Distribution was
new generation of joint solution offerings incorporating accounted for as a tax-free pro-rata dividend to the
Siebel technology. Company shareholders and charged to retained earn-

ings based on the book value of assets distributed toAs a result of this transaction, Synavant manage-
Synavant as at the date of the Synavant Distributionment concluded at that time that significant portions of
(August 31, 2000). The final dividend charged toits software (including acquired technology) and enter-
retained earnings totaled $141,443 and was comprisedprise-wide goodwill were not recoverable. Under its
of assets of $181,080 (including $19,438 of Cash,accounting policy for capitalized software, Synavant
$43,195 of Accounts Receivable, $58,450 of Goodwill,performed a net realizable value analysis to determine
$12,939 of Deferred Software and $16,294 of Property,the recoverability of its capitalized software assets. This
Plant and Equipment) and liabilities of $39,637 (includ-analysis resulted in a write-down of $14,553 in the
ing $6,735 of Accounts Payable, $9,404 of Accrued Lia-period ended September 30, 2000. Under its accounting
bilities and $9,170 of Deferred Revenue). See Note 16.policy for goodwill impairment, Synavant completed a

discounted cash flow analysis on an enterprise wide In connection with the Synavant Distribution, the
basis, resulting in a write down of $100,900 of goodwill Company and Synavant entered into a Distribution
in the period ended September 30, 2000. The total Agreement (the ‘‘Distribution Agreement’’), providing
Impairment Charge—Synavant, recorded in the Consol- for, among other things, certain corporate transactions
idated Statements of Income, was $115,453. The impair- required to effect the Distribution and other arrange-
ment charge was recorded in the results of the Transac- ments between the Company and Synavant subsequent
tion Businesses Segment. This charge was recorded by to the Distribution. In particular, the Distribution
the Company as a result of the Siebel transaction being Agreement defines the assets, liabilities and contractual
effected prior to the Synavant Spin-Off. See Note 23. relationships which were allocated to and assumed by

Synavant and those that remained with the Company.
Note 7. Spin-Off of Synavant This includes the Company’s agreement to indemnify

On August 31, 2000, the Company completed the Synavant with respect to certain contingent liabilities as
Synavant Spin-Off as an independent publicly traded well as certain indemnification to the Company that
company. Prior to the Synavant Spin-Off, the Company Synavant has agreed to assume under certain
transferred to Synavant selected assets and liabilities circumstances.
held by the Company and its subsidiaries related to the

In addition to the Distribution Agreement, theSynavant business. Synavant’s businesses included the
Company and Synavant also entered into other agree-pharmaceutical industry automated sales and marketing
ments governing the relationship between the Companysupport businesses previously operated by IMS Health
and Synavant. These include various Data RightsStrategic Technologies Inc. and certain other foreign
Agreements, a Tax Allocation Agreement, an Employeesubsidiaries of the Company, substantially all of the
Benefits Agreement, a Data and TelecommunicationsCompany’s interactive and direct marketing business,
Service Agreement, certain Sublease Arrangements, aincluding the business of Clark O’Neill, Inc., a wholly-
Corporate Services Agreement, Shared Transaction Ser-owned subsidiary of the Company, and a majority stake
vices Agreements, an Information Service Agreementin a foreign joint venture.
and certain Credit Support Arrangements. Robert

The Company distributed (the ‘‘Synavant Distribu- Kamerschen and H. Eugene Lockhart serve on the
tion’’) to its shareholders of record as of the close of Board of Directors of both the Company and Synavant.
business on July 28, 2000 all of the outstanding shares of

Historically, the Synavant business was managed ascommon stock, par value $0.01 per share, of Synavant
part of the IMS Segment. Effective with the decision to(the ‘‘Synavant Common Stock’’). The Synavant Distri-
spin-off Synavant, the business was managed as part ofbution was effected by means of a pro rata dividend to
the Transaction Businesses Segment and, accordingly,the Company shareholders of one share of Synavant
its results are included in the Transaction BusinessesCommon Stock (together with the associated preferred
Segment. Selected historical financial data for Synavantshare purchase right) for every twenty shares of com-
is included in Note 23.mon stock, par value $0.01 per share, of the Company
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On August 11, 2000, Synavant obtained a revolving The Company recorded $15,827 in contract-related
charges, including $7,493 in payments to exit data sup-line of credit for $20,000 for working capital purposes.
ply and processing contracts and $8,334 related to oner-The line of credit was guaranteed by the Company and
ous lease and other obligations. These costs are incre-was extended through February 15, 2001, at which time
mental and either relate to existing contractualit was replaced with a similar line of credit with a
obligations that do not have any future economic bene-maturity date of May 15, 2001. This line of credit was
fit or represent a contract cancellation penalty. Theylikewise guaranteed by the Company. On April 27,
relate, in part, to the decision in the fourth quarter to2001, Synavant had this later line of credit replaced by a
close down or vacate leased facilities in order to consoli-new revolving line of credit that is not guaranteed by the
date functions geographically as part of the CompetitiveCompany. As of December 31, 2001, the Company does
Fitness Program.not have any continuing obligations or commitments

with respect to Synavant’s credit lines. Approximately $17,723 was charged to expense in
the fourth quarter of 2001 to write down deferredIn 2000, in connection with the Synavant Spin-Off,
software costs to their net realizable value. These write-the Company incurred $37,626 of costs. These costs
downs resulted from the Company’s decision to aban-included $8,813 for expenses related to reductions in
don certain products or introduce new regional orthe administrative workforce resulting from consolida-
global platforms. The Company also charged $4,243 oftion following the Synavant Spin-Off. Additionally, a
goodwill to expense in the fourth quarter of 2001 as adata processing agreement with a third party for $5,200
result of the decision to cease product offerings as wellwas no longer used by the Company as a result of the
as increased competition in certain markets.Company’s determination to streamline the Company’s

operations to focus on its core business and a further Approximately $17,170 of the 2001 charge relates
data enhancement contract for $3,600 was similarly no to GIC and resulted from the Company’s decision to
longer used. The remaining Synavant Spin-Off charges exit the GIC relationship and accelerate the transition
related primarily to legal, professional and other direct of certain data processing functions that are currently
incremental costs. rendered by GIC to the IMS global data center. See

Note 5. Of the total GIC charge, approximately $14,600
is for lease and other asset impairments with theNote 8. Severance, Impairment and Other Charges
remaining balance of $2,570 representing contract ter-

During the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company mination payments to be made to GIC.
completed the assessment of its Competitive Fitness

The cash portion of the 2001 charge will amount toProgram. This program was designed to further stream-
$64,205, primarily for severance payments and contractline operations, increase productivity, and improve cli-
terminations. The non-cash portion amounts to $30,411ent service. In connection with this program, the Com-
and is composed primarily of asset write-offs. Approxi-pany recorded $94,616 of Severance, Impairment and
mately $8,800 has been paid as of December 31, 2001.Other Charges relating to the IMS Segment during the

fourth quarter of 2001 as a component of operating During the fourth quarter of 2000, the Company
income. performed a strategic assessment of its existing cost

structure. Based on this assessment, the Company initi-
Approximately $39,653 was charged to expense in ated a plan to streamline its administrative infrastruc-

the fourth quarter of 2001 related to a worldwide reduc- ture, leverage marketing and sales efforts following the
tion in headcount of more than six-hundred employees. creation of a global key account management program,
This included $33,376 of severance benefits that were harmonize human resources, communications and
calculated pursuant to the terms of established global production and development activities. Accord-
employee protection plans in accordance with local stat- ingly, the Company recorded Severance, Impairment
utory minimum requirements or individual employee and Other Charges of $45,689 during the fourth quarter
contracts, as applicable. This also included $6,277 of of 2000 as a component of operating income. Severance
severance benefits for approximately one-hundred and liabilities were calculated pursuant to the terms of the
seventy five employees that were recorded as part of the ongoing employee protection plan, in accordance with
Competitive Fitness Program in accordance with EITF local statutory minimum requirements or individual
Statement No. 94-3 ‘‘Liability Recognition of Certain compensation contracts, as applicable.
Employee Termination Benefits and other Costs to Exit
an Activity (including Certain Costs incurred in The 2000 charge included cash charges of $10,348,
Restructuring).’’ No material cash payments were made primarily for severance and contract termination and
against the accrual prior to December 31, 2001. non-cash charges of $35,341, primarily for asset
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write-offs. The asset write-offs included: $8,045 for the third-party investors contributed $100,000 to the part-
other-than-temporary decline in the value of the All- nership in exchange for minority ownership interests.
scripts Healthcare Solutions, Inc. (‘‘Allscripts,’’ formerly The Company and its subsidiaries maintain a control-
known as ‘‘Allscripts, Inc.’’) investment as described ling (88%) interest in the partnership. Under the terms
more fully in Note 13; $3,130 for the surrender of of the partnership agreements, the third-party investors
Enterprise warrants; $4,981 for assets which became have the right to take steps that would result in the
redundant as a result of the global data center move to liquidation of their partnership interest on June 30,
the United States; and $19,185 as a result of abandoning 2003.
the existing delivery mechanisms for web-based or

The Company also has a controlling interest inglobal delivery solutions. This program is substantially
CTS (58.3% of the outstanding shares representingcomplete as of December 31, 2001.
93.3% of the voting power at December 31, 2001). The
related minority interest included within the Consoli-Note 9. Executive Management Transition Charge
dated Statements of Financial Position at December 31,

In the fourth quarter of 2000, the Company 2001 and December 31, 2000 was $28,378 and $24,333,
incurred a charge of $31,133 relating to changes in respectively. Selected financial data for CTS is included
executive management. Of this charge, approximately in Note 23. Minority interest expense of $19,466,
$23,000 relates to Victoria R. Fash (previously President $17,222 and $14,260 was recorded in Other Expense,
and Chief Executive Officer) and Robert E. Weissman net in 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. In the year
(previously Chairman) arising principally from the ended December 31, 2001, the Company recorded a
acceleration or enhancement of previously existing $5,189 gain resulting from the issuance of CTS stock in
employee benefit obligations, including stock options connection with stock option exercises and employee
and pensions. The Company originally made a loan to stock purchases. This gain has been recognized in the
Ms. Fash of $3,558 on January 3, 2000. On January 12, Consolidated Statements of Income within Gain (Loss)
2000 $632 was repaid and the loan accrued interest at on Issuance of Investees’ Stock, net, in accordance with
an annual rate of 6.21%. As a result of Ms. Fash’s SAB No. 51.
negotiated agreement with the Company, the remaining
balance on the loan and accrued interest in the amount Note 12. Investments in Equity Investees and
of $3,084 were forgiven and the accompanying income Subsidiaries
tax liability to Ms. Fash of $2,580 was paid by the

The TriZetto Group, Inc.Company. The remaining accrual at December 31, 2001
amounted to approximately $13,400, primarily relating

On October 3, 2000 (the ‘‘Closing Date’’), Elbejayto long-term pension benefits.
Acquisition Corp. (‘‘Merger Sub’’), a Delaware corpora-
tion and a wholly owned subsidiary of TriZetto, a Dela-

Note 10. Terminated Transaction Costs ware corporation, was merged (the ‘‘Merger’’) with and
into Erisco, a New York corporation and a whollyDuring fourth quarter of 2001, the Company termi-
owned subsidiary of the Company pursuant to thenated negotiations to dispose of one of its product lines
Agreement and Plan of Reorganization dated as ofand decided to retain and continue operating it. In
May 16, 2000 (the ‘‘Merger Agreement’’), by and amongconnection with this terminated transaction, the Com-
TriZetto, Merger Sub, the Company and Erisco. Thepany recorded Terminated Transaction Costs of $6,457,
Merger effectuated the Company’s sale of Erisco torelating primarily to legal and accounting services.
TriZetto. In consideration, TriZetto issued 12,143 shares
of common stock, par value $0.001 per share (theNote 11. Minority Interests
‘‘TriZetto Common Stock’’), to the Company.

The Company consolidates the assets, liabilities,
The transaction was accounted for by the Companyresults of operations and cash flows of businesses and

as a disposition of Erisco in exchange for the acquisitioninvestments over which it has control. Third parties’
of a 36.1% interest in TriZetto. The gross proceedsownership interests are reflected as minority interests
received by the Company, based on the closing shareon the Company’s financial statements. Two of the
price of TriZetto Common Stock on the NasdaqCompany’s subsidiaries contributed assets to, and par-
National Market on October 2, 2000 ($15.125 perticipate in, a limited partnership. One subsidiary serves
share), were approximately $183,700 and the Companyas general partner, and all other partners hold limited
recorded a gain on the sale of Erisco of $84,530. Inpartnership interests. The partnership, which is a sepa-
connection with the transaction the Company trans-rate and distinct legal entity, is in the business of licens-
ferred $32,000 of cash to Erisco prior to disposition toing database assets and computer software. In 1997,
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TriZetto. This was funded by short-term debt and pri- designate one director-nominee to the TriZetto Board
of Directors and (ii) consent rights regarding certainmarily represented the repayment of existing inter-com-
transactions by TriZetto, subject in each case, to earlierpany liabilities.
termination of such rights upon the occurrence of cer-
tain events. Pursuant to the Registration Rights Agree-As contemplated by the Merger Agreement, fol-
ment, the Company was granted registration rights inlowing the Merger, Victoria R. Fash, then President and
respect of the shares of TriZetto Common Stock issuedChief Executive Officer of the Company, was appointed
to the Company in connection with the sale of Erisco.to the TriZetto Board of Directors as the Company’s

director nominee. In January 2001, David M. Thomas,
The Company is accounting for its ownership inter-Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company,

est in TriZetto under the equity method and accord-was appointed to replace Ms. Fash on the TriZetto
ingly, records its share of the TriZetto operating results.Board.
At the date of the acquisition, the Company’s initial
equity investment in TriZetto in the amount of $136,196Additionally, as contemplated by the Merger
was comprised of the Company’s residual interest in theAgreement, the Company and TriZetto entered into a
net assets of Erisco and its proportionate share of theStockholder Agreement and a Registration Rights
tangible and identified intangible assets and the liabili-Agreement. The Stockholder Agreement imposes cer-
ties of TriZetto, goodwill and direct acquisition costs.tain restrictions on the Company. These restrictions

include, without limitation: (i) a standstill provision
In connection with the acquisition of its interest inrestricting the Company from, among other things,

TriZetto, the Company made allocations of the pur-acquiring additional shares of TriZetto Common Stock
chase price to software, tradename, customer contracts,until the earlier of the fourth anniversary of the Closing
and goodwill in the aggregate amounts of $5,819,Date, or the date on which a Change of Control (as
$3,000, $12,504, and $95,773 respectively. The intangi-defined in the Stockholder Agreement) of TriZetto shall
ble assets are being amortized on a straight-line basishave occurred or TriZetto shall have publicly
over the following estimates of useful lives:announced its willingness to consider a transaction that

would constitute a Change of Control; (ii) a share trans-
fer restriction that prohibits (subject to certain restric- Software . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5 years
tions) transfers by the company of TriZetto Common Tradename . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20 years
Stock until the earlier of two years after the Closing Customer Contracts . . . . . . . . . . . 10 years
Date, the date on which the Company beneficially owns Goodwill . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 10 years
less than 10% of the outstanding TriZetto Common
Stock measured as of the Closing Date, or the date on

The Company’s share of the adjusted operatingwhich a Change of Control of TriZetto shall have
results of TriZetto for the year ended December 31,occurred; (iii) a right of first refusal for TriZetto on
2001 and for the period from October 3, 2000 totransfers by the Company of more than 10% of the
December 31, 2000 amounted to a loss of $6,985 (net ofoutstanding TriZetto Common Stock measured as of
a deferred tax benefit of $4,504) and $4,777 (net of athe time of the transfer commencing upon the termina-
deferred tax benefit of $3,080), respectively.tion of the share transfer restriction period described in

(ii) above and continuing until the date on which the
Company beneficially owns less than 10% of the out- As the transaction has been accounted for as a

non-monetary exchange, the Company’s share of thestanding TriZetto Common Stock measured as of the
adjusted operating results of TriZetto excludes theClosing Date (unless a Change of Control of TriZetto
impact of the amortization of goodwill and othershall have occurred); and (iv) a right of first offer for
acquired intangibles associated with TriZetto’s acquisi-TriZetto on any transfer of TriZetto Common Stock by
tion of Erisco (as reflected in its reported operatingthe Company commencing upon the termination the
results) and includes the amortization of goodwill andshare transfer restriction period described in (ii) above
acquired intangibles associated with the Company’sand continuing until the date on which the Company
acquisition of its interest in TriZetto.beneficially owns less than 10% of the outstanding

TriZetto Common Stock measured as of the Closing
Date. The Stockholder Agreement also grants the Com- Summary financial information for TriZetto, as of
pany, for so long as the Company beneficially owns and for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000, is
more than 10% of the outstanding TriZetto Common presented in the following table. The amounts shown
Stock measured as of the Closing Date, (i) the right to represent consolidated TriZetto operating results and
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financial position, based on publicly available Cognizant Technology Solutions Corporation
information.

During 2001 CTS recorded revenues from TriZetto
of approximately $401 and payments to TriZetto for2001 2000
commissions and marketing fees of approximatelyCurrent Assets . . . . . . . . . . . . $129,532 $ 53,919
$1,012.

Non-Current Assets . . . . . . . . . $261,189 $309,832
Current Liabilities . . . . . . . . . . $ 83,387 $ 61,760 Note 13. Securities and Other Investments
Non-Current Liabilities . . . . . . $ 26,379 $ 32,561

SecuritiesRevenues . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $218,172 $ 89,056
Gross Profit . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 71,512 $ 14,038 Securities and Other Investments include the Com-
Loss from Operations . . . . . . . $ (78,044) $(48,617) pany’s investments in: a) publicly traded marketable
Net Loss . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ (61,154) $(42,258) securities; b) direct equity investments in private com-

panies, and c) interests in venture capital entities.

Marketable securities, principally consisting ofThe market value of the Company’s investment in
equity securities, are classified as available-for-sale.TriZetto was approximately $159,314 as at Decem-
Such securities are carried at estimated fair value, withber 31, 2001.
the unrealized gains and losses, net of income taxes,

The issuance by TriZetto of shares of common reported as a component of shareholders’ equity. Typi-
stock resulted in a $6,679 loss, including taxes of $2,618, cally these securities are distributed to the Company
recorded in the year ended December 31, 2001. The from venture capital entities it invests in. The cost and
majority of these shares were issued in a secondary estimated fair value of these securities were $13,159 and
offering which generated proceeds to TriZetto of $27,155 respectively at December 31, 2001, and $6,265
approximately $56,000. The remaining shares were and $23,357 respectively at December 31, 2000.
issued primarily for acquisitions and stock option exer-

Direct equity investments in private companies andcises. The issuance of equity by TriZetto resulted in the
interests in venture capital entities are carried in thereduction of IMS Health’s ownership stake from
financial statements at cost which was $24,140 atapproximately 33.2% on December 31, 2000 to approxi-
December 31, 2001 and $60,233 at December 31, 2000.mately 26.8% on December 31, 2001. The resulting loss
On a quarterly basis, the Company monitors the realiza-has been recognized in the Consolidated Statements of
ble value of these investments and makes appropriateIncome within Gain (Loss) on Issuance of Investees’
reductions in their carrying values when a decline inStock, net, in accordance with SAB No. 51.
value is deemed to be other-than-temporary. During the

On December 1, 2000, TriZetto acquired all of the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company reviewed the
issued and outstanding capital stock of Resource Infor- Enterprises portfolio and re-assessed it as a
mation Management Systems, Inc. (‘‘RIMS’’) for 2,588 non-strategic asset. The Company refined its estimation
shares of TriZetto common stock at an average price of approach related to its assessment of the
$21.20 per share and $3,000 cash, as well as the assump- other-than-temporary decline in the fair value of the
tion of stock options and an agreement to issue a cer- investments in the venture capital entities from evaluat-
tain amount of restricted stock. For the year ended ing the recoverability of the portfolio of each venture
December 31, 2000, the Company recognized a gain of capital entity in the aggregate to evaluating the underly-
$9,029, including tax of $3,539, in the income statement ing securities. After a comprehensive review of the
related to the issuance of common stock by TriZetto. operating results, financial position and future pros-
The gain reflects the excess of the sales price of the pects of the investments made by the entities, manage-
TriZetto stock issued over the Company’s carrying value ment concluded that the declines in the value of the
of TriZetto stock. This stock issuance reduced the Com- investments made by the venture capital entities were
pany’s ownership of TriZetto to 33.2% as of Decem- other-than-temporary in nature and recorded a charge
ber 31, 2000. of $28,729 for the year ended December 31, 2001,

included in Gains (Losses) from Investments, net in the
Effective October 1, 2000, TriZetto entered into a Consolidated Statements of Income.

three-year license agreement for TriZetto’s HealthWeb
software which may be renewed for an additional During 2001 the Company sold securities from its
one-year period. The license fee for the software is available-for-sale portfolio and recorded a pre-tax gain
$3,000 payable in three annual installments of $1,000. of $1,082, which is included in Gains (Losses) from
As of December 31, 2001 $1,000 remained outstanding Investments, net in the Consolidated Statements of
and was accrued for by the Company. Income. The Company recorded $78,139 and $25,264 of
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net pre-tax gains from the disposition of its avail- Investments, net in the Consolidated Statements of
able-for-sale securities during 2000 and 1999, respec- Income.
tively. These amounts were recorded in Gains (Losses)
from Investments, net. Note 14. Financial Instruments

Foreign Exchange Risk ManagementOther Investments

On January 1, 2001, the Company adopted SFASOn February 17, 2000, the Company announced an
No. 133, ‘‘Accounting for Derivative Instruments andalliance with and strategic investment in Allscripts to
Hedging Activities’’ and SFAS No. 138, ‘‘Accounting fordevelop and market new Internet-based information
Certain Derivative Instruments and Certain Hedginghealthcare solutions for the pharmaceutical industry. In
Activities, an amendment of SFAS No. 133.’’ Theseconjunction with the agreement the Company made a
statements standardize the accounting for derivativeprivate equity investment of $10,000 to acquire 215
instruments. The Company is required to record allshares of Allscripts common stock.
derivative instruments on the balance sheet at fair
value. Derivatives that are not classified as hedges areDuring the fourth quarter of 2000, the Company
adjusted to fair value through earnings. Changes in fairdetermined the decline in value of its investment in
value of the derivatives that the Company has desig-Allscripts to be other-than-temporary. As a result, the
nated and that qualify as effective hedges are recordedCompany incurred an impairment charge of $8,045
in either other comprehensive income or earnings. Anywhich was included as part of the Severance, Impair-
ineffective portion of the Company’s derivatives that arement and Other Charges described more fully in Note 8.
classified as hedges is immediately recognized in earn-In addition, during the third and fourth quarters of 2001
ings. This change in accounting principle did not have athe Company determined that Allscripts had sustained a
material impact on the Company’s financial position,further other-than-temporary decline and reduced its
results of operations or cash flow.carrying basis of Allscripts by an additional $1,258. This

amount was charged to Gains (Losses) from Invest-
The Company transacts business in more than 100ments, net in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

countries and is subject to risks associated with chang-
In June 2000, the Company’s CTS subsidiary ing foreign exchange rates. The Company’s objective is

announced a strategic relationship with Trident Capital to reduce earnings and cash flow volatility associated
to jointly invest in emerging e-business service and tech- with foreign exchange rate changes. Accordingly, the
nology companies. In accordance with this strategy, the Company enters into foreign currency forward contracts
Company invested $1,955 in Questra Corporation to minimize the impact of foreign exchange movements
(‘‘Questra’’), an e-business software and consulting firm on net income and on the value of non-functional cur-
headquartered in Rochester, New York, in return for a rency assets and liabilities.
5.8% equity interest. Trident Capital also independently

It is the Company’s policy to enter into foreignmade a direct investment in Questra. CTS’s investment
currency transactions only to the extent necessary tois being accounted for under the cost method of
meet its objectives as stated above. The Company doesaccounting.
not enter into foreign currency transactions for invest-

CTS reviews for impairment certain assets when- ment or speculative purposes. At December 31, 2001 all
ever events or changes in circumstances indicate that foreign currency forward contracts had a term of less
the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. than one year. The principal currencies hedged are the
In the fourth quarter of 2001, Questra issued Preferred Japanese yen, the Euro and the Swiss franc.
B shares in exchange for $19 million of new venture

The impact of foreign exchange risk managementcapital financing. Since CTS did not participate, that
activities on pre-tax income in 2001, 2000 and 1999 wasreduced its ownership interest in Questra from 5.8% to
a net gain of $6,955, $19,535 and $3,239, respectively. In2.1%. Based on the implied fair value of Questra, as
addition, at December 31, 2001, the Company hadmeasured by the latest round of financing, and consider-
approximately $131,591 in foreign exchange forwarding the preferential liquidation rights that the Preferred
contracts outstanding with various expiration datesB shareholders received, CTS has concluded that it will
through February 2002 hedging non-functional currencynot recover any of its investment in Questra and has
assets and liabilities. Gains and losses on these contractsrecorded an impairment loss of $1,955 to recognize the
are not deferred and are included in the Consolidatedother than temporary decline in the value of its invest-
Statements of Income in Other Expense, net.ment. This amount was charged to Gains (Losses) from
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments Lines of Credit

At December 31, 2001, the Company’s financial The Company has borrowing arrangements with
instruments included cash, cash equivalents, receivables, several international banks to provide lines of credit up
accounts payable, short-tem debt, including short-term to $525,000 at December 31, 2001. Total borrowings
borrowings reclassified as long-term debt, and foreign under these lines were $346,463 and $384,281 at
currency forward contracts. At December 31, 2001, the December 31, 2001 and 2000, respectively. In general,
fair values of cash, cash equivalents, receivables, the terms of these lines of credit give the Company the
accounts payable and short-term debt approximated option to borrow at an interest rate equal to LIBOR
carrying values due to the short-term nature of these plus 37.5 basis points for short-term lines and LIBOR
instruments. At December 31, 2001, the fair value of the plus 65 basis points for long-term lines. The weighted
Company’s foreign currency forward contracts was average interest rates for the short-term lines were
$131,591 and all contracts mature in 2002. The esti- 2.34% and 7.10% at December 31, 2001 and 2000,
mated fair values of the forward contracts were deter- respectively. The weighted average interest rates for the
mined based on quoted market prices. long-term lines were 2.48% at December 31, 2001. The

commitment fee associated with the unused short-term
Credit Concentrations lines of credit is 22.5 basis points per year, increasing to

28.75 basis points per year if the facilities are less thanThe Company continually monitors its positions 50% utilized. Under the long-term lines the commit-with, and the credit quality of, the financial institutions ment fee is 52.5 basis points per year. The borrowingwhich are counterparties to its financial instruments and arrangements require the Company to comply with cer-does not anticipate non-performance by the counterpar- tain financial covenants and at December 31, 2001 andties. The Company would not realize a material loss as 2000, the Company was in compliance with all suchof December 31, 2001 in the event of non-performance covenants.by any one counterparty. The Company enters into
transactions only with financial institution counterpar- During the fourth quarter of 2001, the Company
ties which have a credit rating of A or better. In addi- renegotiated with several banks and entered into
tion, the Company limits the amount of credit exposure three-year lines of credit for borrowings of up to
with any one institution. $175,000. Borrowings under these three-year facilities

are short-term in nature; however, the Company has theThe Company maintains accounts receivable bal- ability and the intent to refinance the short-term bor-ances ($228,626 and $230,988, net of allowances for rowings through December 2004 as they come due. Asdoubtful accounts, at December 31, 2001 and 2000, such, at December 31, 2001, the Company reclassifiedrespectively—see Note 22), principally from customers $150,000 of its then outstanding debt as long-term debtin the pharmaceutical industry. The Company’s trade pursuant to the provisions of SFAS No. 6, ‘‘Classifica-receivables do not represent significant concentrations tion of Short-Term Obligations Expected to be Refi-of credit risk at December 31, 2001 due to the high nanced.’’ Borrowings under short-term lines werequality of its customers and their dispersion across many $196,463 and $384,281 at December 31, 2001 and 2000,geographic areas. respectively. Borrowings have maturity dates of up to
ninety days from their inception.
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Note 15. Pension and Post-Retirement Benefits

The status of the Company’s defined benefit pension and post-retirement benefit plans at December 31, 2001 and
2000 is as follows:

Post-retirement
Pension Benefits Benefits

2001 2000 2001 2000

Change in Benefit Obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $156,332 $135,325 $ 8,360 $ 7,970
Service cost 7,888 10,249 550 620
Interest cost 9,793 11,703 870 580
Foreign currency exchange loss (2,163) (9,942) — —
Amendments 1,096 (129) — —
Curtailment charge (credit) — 6,502 — (420)
Special termination benefits — 158 — —
Plan participants’ contributions 723 687 70 50
Actuarial (gain) loss 4,127 6,975 3,560 (150)
Benefits paid (10,796) (5,196) (320) (290)
Benefit obligation at end of year 167,000 156,332 13,090 8,360
Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 153,256 163,998 — —
Actual return on assets (14,207) (2,449) — —
Foreign currency exchange loss (1,815) (6,000) — —
Employer contributions 25,164 2,383 250 240
Plan participants’ contributions 723 687 70 50
Actual expense paid — (167) — —
Benefits paid (10,796) (5,196) (320) (290)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year 152,325 153,256 — —
Funded status at end of year (14,675) (3,076) (13,090) (8,360)
Unrecognized actuarial (gain) loss 21,951 (10,225) 2,520 (910)
Unrecognized prior service cost (885) (1,599) (70) (200)
Unrecognized net transition asset 256 720 — —
Net amount recognized at end of year 6,647 (14,180) (10,640) (9,470)
Amounts recognized in the Consolidated

Statements of Financial Position consist of:
Prepaid benefit cost 38,235 17,438 — —
Accrued benefit liability (35,648) (33,340) (10,640) (9,470)
Intangible asset 314 437 — —
Accumulated other comprehensive income 3,746 1,285 — —
Net amount recognized $ 6,647 $(14,180) $(10,640) $(9,470)
Weighted average assumptions as of December 31,
Discount Rate 6.62% 6.81% 7.25% 7.50%
Expected return on plan assets 8.76% 8.57% n/a n/a
Rate of compensation increase 3.89% 3.92% n/a n/a

The assumed rate of future increases in per capita cost of covered healthcare benefits is 9.0% in 2001, decreasing
gradually to 5.0% for the year 2010 and remaining constant thereafter. The weighted average discount rates, expected
return on plan assets and rate of compensation increase were 6.72%, 8.64% and 4.05% respectively as of Decem-
ber 31, 1999.
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The components of net periodic benefit cost for 2001, 2000 and 1999 are summarized as follows:

Pension Benefits Post-retirement Benefits

2001 2000 1999 2001 2000 1999

Service cost $ 7,888 $10,249 $ 9,781 $ 550 $ 620 $ 720
Interest cost 9,793 11,703 8,973 870 580 530

Expected return on plan assets (12,708) (12,952) (11,639) — — —
Prior service cost (credit) (196) (236) (217) (130) (130) (250)
Transition Asset 485 (40) — — — —
Recognized actuarial (gain) loss (208) (684) (501) 130 (10) —
Special termination benefit charge (credit) — 158 — — — —
Curtailment charge (credit) — 6,610 — — (340) —

Net periodic benefit cost $ 5,054 $14,808 $ 6,397 $1,420 $ 720 $1,000

During 2001, the Company made a tax deductible point change in assumed health care cost trend rates for
contribution to its U.S. pension plan in the amount of 2001 would have the following effects:
$17,600.

1-Percentage 1-Percentage
Increase (Decrease) Point Increase Point DecreaseIn connection with the Synavant Spin-Off and the

sale of Erisco in 2000, employees of Synavant and Effect on total service/interest
cost for post-retirementErisco ceased participation in Company-sponsored pen-
benefits $ 110 ($ 90)sion and post-retirement benefit plans. This was

Effect on post-retirementaccounted for as a curtailment. The Company-spon- benefit obligation $1,140 ($970)
sored defined benefit plan in the United States of
America was amended to provide that affected Syna- Certain employees of the Company in the United
vant and Erisco employees would be 100% vested in States of America also are eligible to participate in the
their accrued benefit under the plan. In addition, Syna- Company-sponsored defined contribution plan. The
vant and Erisco employees who met specified age and Company’s businesses make a matching contribution of
service criteria at the time of the respective transactions up to 50% of the employee’s contribution based on
will be eligible to participate in the Company sponsored specified limits of the employee’s salary. The Com-
post-retirement medical program as in effect at the time pany’s expense related to this plan was $2,452, $3,248
of their retirement. and $3,108 for the years 2001, 2000 and 1999,

respectively.The projected benefit obligation, accumulated ben-
efit obligation, and fair value of plan assets for the

Note 16. Employee Stock Planspension plans with accumulated benefit obligations in
excess of plan assets were $45,235, $43,270 and $10,364 The Company maintains three Employees’ Stock
respectively, as of December 31, 2001 and $48,029, Incentive Plans, which provide for the grant of stock
$43,959 and $14,632, respectively, as of December 31, options, restricted stock and restricted stock units to
2000. Additional executive related pension benefits that eligible employees. At December 31, 2001, there were
were recognized pursuant to certain employment 50,957 shares of common stock reserved for issuance
arrangements at December 31, 2001. The Company’s under all of Company stock plans of which, 18,823
benefit obligation for these arrangements was $9,540 shares are still available for future grants. These
and an expense of $1,730 was charged during 2001. amounts include 18,000 shares from the 2000 Employee

Stock Incentive Plan, which the Board of DirectorsAssumed health care costs trend rates have a signif-
approved during 2000. Generally, options vest propor-icant effect on the amounts reported for the
tionally over three years and have an exercise pricepost-retirement health care plan. A one-percentage-
equal to the fair market value of the common stock on
the grant date. Certain grants permit accelerated vesting
if specified performance targets are achieved. Options
granted to Company employees must be exercised five,
seven or ten years from the date of grant. The vesting
period and option term for grants to employees is at the
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discretion of the Compensation and Benefits Commit- reduced to the pro forma amounts indicated below for
tee of the Board of Directors. the years ended December 31:

2001 2000 1999The Company granted 184 restricted stock units in
Net Income: As reported $185,426 $120,816 $276,0612001. The grants had a nominal value of $4,304, a

Pro forma $136,569 $17,894 $228,878weighted average grant price of $23.41 per share and Earnings Per
vest over a two to four year period. Share:

Basic As reported $0.63 $0.41 $0.88The Company amended its Employee Stock Pur-
Pro forma $0.46 $0.06 $0.73

chase Plan for 2001 to allow employees to purchase a Diluted As reported $0.62 $0.40 $0.86
limited amount of common stock at the end of each six Pro forma $0.46 $0.06 $0.72
month period at a price equal to the lesser of 85% of

Note: The pro forma earnings  may not be representative of thefair market value on (a) the first trading day of the
effects on net income and earnings per share in future years. The 2000period, or (b) the last trading day of the period. Fair pro forma earnings reflect one-time vesting acceleration in 2000 which

market value is defined as the average of the high and had a per share impact of $0.31 (basic) and $0.30 (diluted).
low prices of the shares on the relevant day. The Plan
was originally adopted in 1998 with a quarterly purchase The fair value of the Company’s stock options used
period and a price equal to the lesser of 90% of the fair to compute pro forma net income and earnings per
market value on the first trading day or the last trading share is the estimated fair value at grant date using the
day of the period. Black-Scholes option pricing model. The following

weighted average assumptions were used for the periodsCTS has stock option plans that provide for the
ended December 31:grant of stock options to eligible employees, non-

2001 2000 1999employee Directors and independent contractors.
Expected term (years) 2.98 2.98 3.00Under these plans, CTS has 7,638 shares authorized and
Risk-free interest rate 4.1% 6.3% 4.8%has 2,271 shares available for future grants.
Dividend yield 0.3% 0.3% 0.3%
Expected volatility 38.0% 40.0% 35.0%SFAS No. 123, ‘‘Accounting for Stock-Based Com-

pensation’’ requires that companies with stock-based The weighted average fair values of the Company’s
compensation plans either recognize compensation stock options granted in 2001, 2000 and 1999 were
expense based on the fair value of options granted or $7.20, $6.23 and $9.61 per share, respectively.
continue to apply the existing accounting rules and
disclose pro forma net income and earnings per share The fair value of CTS stock options used to com-
assuming the fair value method had been applied. The pute the Company’s pro forma net income and earnings
Company has chosen to continue applying APB Opin- per share was computed in the same manner with the
ion No. 25 and related interpretations in accounting for following weighted average assumptions for the periods
its plans. In accordance with APB Opinion No. 25, the ended December 31:
Company recognized compensation expense in 2001 of

2001 2000 1999$2,099 for the fixed stock option plans (primarily relat-
Expected term (years) 3.00 3.90 3.90ing to vesting acceleration of certain employee stock
Risk-free interest rate 4.3% 6.1% 5.6%options prior to termination) and $4,662 for restricted
Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%stock units. Compensation cost was recognized in 2000
Expected volatility 78.0% 75.0% 75.0%and 1999 of $5,636 and $3,390, respectively, for

restricted stock units and compensation cost related to The weighted average fair values of CTS stock
terminated employees in 2000 was $3,309. If the com- options granted during 2001, 2000 and 1999 were
pensation cost for the Company’s stock-based compen- $16.68, $21.71 and $7.45 per share, respectively.
sation plans was determined based on the fair value at

For the period through the Gartner Spin-Off inthe grant dates for awards under those plans, consistent
1999, the fair value of Gartner stock options used towith the method of SFAS No. 123, the Company’s net
compute the Company’s pro forma net income andincome and earnings per share would have been
earnings per share was computed in the same manner
with the following weighted average assumptions for
1999: dividend yield of 0%, expected volatility of 45%,
risk—free interest rate of 4.7%, and expected term of
3.5 years. The weighted average fair value of Gartner
stock options granted in 1999 was $8.91 per share.
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Holders of options to purchase the Company’s market value per share, the same aggregate difference
stock did not receive shares as a result of the Synavant between market value and exercise price and the same
and Gartner Spin-Off in 2000 and 1999, respectively. vesting provisions, option periods and other terms and
Consequently, options granted under the Company’s conditions as the options prior to the adjustment. In
plans were adjusted to recognize the effects of the accordance with EITF Statement No. 90-9, ‘‘Changes to
distributions and maintain the intrinsic value of the Fixed Employee Stock Option Plans as a Result of
options. The options, as adjusted, represented a change Equity Restructuring,’’ no compensation charge was
in the number of shares issuable when exercised but required for these option adjustments.
maintained the same ratio of the exercise price to the

The following table summarizes stock option activity for each of the three years ended December 31:
Weighted
Average

Per Share
Stock Options Exercise Price

Options Outstanding, December 31, 1998 28,860 $21.18

Gartner Spin-Off
Conversion adjustment(1) 4,108 —

Granted 8,646 $34.14
Exercised (1,885) $16.96
Expired/Terminated (4,847) $22.76

Options Outstanding, December 31, 1999 34,882 $21.96

Synavant Spin-Off (3,574) $22.31
Conversion adjustment(1) 1,259 —
Granted 24,924 $18.69
Exercised (8,191) $16.54
Expired/Terminated (3,733) $23.28

Options Outstanding, December 31, 2000 45,567 $20.40

Granted 4,270 $24.25
Exercised (14,566) $16.88
Expired/Terminated (3,137) $24.22

Options Outstanding, December 31, 2001 32,134 $22.14

(1) The conversion adjustment relates to the conversion factor applied to existing options as a result of the Gartner and
Synavant Spin-Offs in 1999 and 2000, respectively.

The following table summarizes significant ranges of outstanding and exercisable options at December 31, 2001:

Weighted Average Per Share
As of December 31, 2001 Option Exercise PricesRemaining

Range of Number Number Contractual
Exercise Prices Outstanding Exercisable Life Outstanding Exercisable

$ 9.65-$14.76 174 169 4.1 years $12.66 $12.69
$15.21-$16.83 9,992 7,746 5.4 years $16.20 $16.46
$17.33-$20.52 6,847 3,582 7.3 years $20.39 $20.32
$21.00-$26.99 7,513 3,484 7.1 years $24.25 $24.67
$27.12-$29.90 2,654 2,081 6.8 years $29.10 $29.36
$30.39-$32.76 4,954 3,499 7.0 years $30.42 $30.42

32,134 20,561

On January 3, 2000, the Company reduced the vesting period on substantially all options previously granted with
a six-year vesting period to four years. As a result 4,997 previously unvested options with exercise prices ranging from
$15.93 to $28.95 became exercisable of January 3, 2000. On May 22, 2000 in connection with the sale of Erisco, the
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Company accelerated the vesting on 2,738 options and extended the post termination exercise period for certain
unvested options granted prior to 1998.

CTS stock option activity and related information as of and for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and
1999 is summarized below:

2001 2000 1999

Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average

Per Share Per Share Per Share
Exercise Exercise Exercise

Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price

Outstanding at beginning of year 3,681 $18.90 2,552 $ 8.37 1,370 $ 2.93
Granted, Employee Option Plan — — — — 122 $13.73
Granted, Directors Option Plan — — — — 40 $11.16
Granted, 1999 Incentive Comp. Plan 1,542 $31.71 1,408 $37.59 1,277 $12.58
Exercised (666) $ 7.71 (130) $ 6.01 (191) $ 2.88
Cancelled (238) $37.57 (148) $26.43 (66) $ 4.51
Expired (13) $53.70 (1) $12.22 — —

Outstanding—end of year 4,306 $24.08 3,681 $18.90 2,552 $ 8.37

Exercisable—end of year 1,191 $13.99 957 $ 5.83 442 $ 3.40

Options granted under these plans may not be granted at an exercise price less than fair market value of the
underlying shares on the date of grant with the exception of 98 shares granted in 1998 to the Chairman & CEO at an
amount less than the then current fair market value of the shares on the date of grant. CTS has recorded the related
compensation expense over the vesting period of these options. All options have a life of ten years, generally vest
proportionally over four years and have an exercise price equal to the fair market value of the common stock on the
grant date.
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Note 17. Income Taxes non-deductible U.S. Impairment Charge—Synavant,
Spin and Related Costs and Severance, Impairment andIncome (Loss) from continuing operations before
Other Charges (portions of which are non-deductible),provision for income taxes consisted of:
and a reduction in the net German deferred tax assets

2001 2000 1999
(principally non-U.S. intangible assets) due to a reduc-

U.S. $ (280) $ 86,719 $ 98,016 tion in the German corporate tax rate from 40% to 25%
Non-U.S. 184,081 174,594 250,426

($17,655). These were offset by the recognition of cer-
$183,801 $261,313 $348,442 tain German trade tax benefits on tax deductible amor-

tization of non-U.S. intangible assets resulting from aThe provision (benefit) for income taxes consisted
favorable German court decision ($19,355), and theof:
recognition of the tax benefit of certain net operating2001 2000 1999
losses (‘‘NOLs’’) due to the implementation of global

U.S. Federal and State: tax planning strategies ($10,072). The Company’s 1999Current $(2,042) $ 59,022 $60,444
effective tax rate of 28.1% reflected a non-deductibleDeferred 501 34,362 3,560
one-time Gartner Spin and Related Costs. To consoli-$(1,541) $ 93,384 $64,004
date certain of its international operations, in 1999 theNon-U.S.:
Company engaged in a non-U.S. reorganization whichCurrent $33,182 $ 23,165 $61,597

Deferred 6,774 23,863 (27,525) gave rise to tax deductible amortization of non-U.S.
$39,956 $ 47,028 $34,072 intangible assets.

Total $38,415 $140,412 $98,076 The Company’s deferred tax assets (liabilities) are
comprised of the following at December 31:The following table summarizes the significant dif-

2001 2000ferences between the U.S. Federal statutory taxes and
Deferred Tax Assets:the Company’s provision for income taxes for consoli-

Non-U.S. Intangibles $ 63,322 $ 74,914dated financial statement purposes.
Net Operating Losses 28,518 28,176

2001 2000 1999 Employee Benefits 24,194 15,106
Accrued Liabilities 7,983 6,561Tax Expense at Statutory Rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
U.S. Intangibles — 6,284State and Local Income Taxes, net of

Federal Tax Benefit 0.7 1.6 0.1 124,017 131,041
Pre-Spin Liability (11.4) — 2.6 Valuation Allowance (13,202) (11,718)
Amortizable Non-U.S. Intangibles (8.0) (7.4) (19.5)

110,815 119,323Impact of Non-U.S. Tax Rates and Credit (1.8) 2.7 2.1
Non-Deductible Goodwill Amortization 1.6 2.8 1.9 Deferred Tax Liabilities:
Non-U.S. Tax Liabilities 1.4 0.1 5.3 Computer Software (36,309) (26,213)
Non-Deductible U.S. Impairment CTS Undistributed Indian Earnings (25,535) (16,822)

Charge—Synavant — 13.6 — Securities and Other Investments (21,056) (37,554)
Utilization of Prior Year Non-U.S. NOL’s — (3.9) — Deferred Revenue (15,982) (31,882)
Non-Deductible Spin and Related Costs Depreciation (10,242) (9,844)

and Severance, Impairment and Other Other (9,843) (5,505)
Charges — 1.9 1.0

(118,967) (127,820)Impact of Non-U.S. Tax Rate Changes on
Deferred Taxes — 6.8 2.6 Net Deferred Tax Asset (Liability) $ (8,152) $ (8,497)

Recognition of Loss on Sale of SSJ — — (2.6)
Other, net 3.4 0.5 (0.4) In connection with the tax-free TriZetto acquisi-
Total Taxes 20.9% 53.7% 28.1% tion, the Company has a deferred tax liability of $30,178

and $35,502 for 2001 and 2000 respectively, on theThe Company’s 2001 effective tax rate of 20.9%
difference between the substituted tax basis and thereflects the financial statement impact of the expiration,
equity investment in TriZetto in accordance with SFASwithout adjustment, on September 30, 2001 of the stat-
No. 109. This deferred tax liability is included in Securi-ute of limitations on certain previously-reserved-for
ties and Other Investments above.Donnelley Legacy transactions (approximately $21,033),

and the recognition of additional tax benefits arising The 2001 and 2000 net deferred tax liability con-
from a 1998 non-U.S. reorganization which gave rise to sists of a current deferred tax asset of $63,103 and
tax deductible amortization of non-U.S intangible assets $62,934, a non-current deferred tax asset of $47,063 and
(approximately $14,660), resulting from the reassess- $49,342, a current deferred tax liability of $10,684 and
ment of the tax benefits from this reorganization follow- $15,812, and a non-current deferred tax liability
ing certain new non-U.S. tax legislation enacted at the included in Other Liabilities of $107,634 and $104,961,
end of the first quarter of 2001. The Company’s 2000 respectively. Also included in Other Liabilities are cer-
effective tax rate of 53.7% reflected principally the tain income tax and other Donnelley Legacy liabilities
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deemed to be long-term in nature by the Company Note 19. IMS Health Capital Stock
($49,746). See Notes 2, 21 and 22. On July 19, 2000 the Board of Directors authorized

The Company has established a valuation allowance a stock repurchase program to buy up to 40,000 shares,
attributable to deferred tax assets, primarily net operat- marking the fifth consecutive repurchase program the
ing losses, in certain U.S. state and non-U.S. tax jurisdic- Company has implemented. Shares acquired through
tions where, based on available evidence, it is more likely the repurchase program will be open-market purchases
than not that such assets will not be realized. in compliance with Securities and Exchange Commis-

sion Rule 10b-18.The Company intends to indefinitely reinvest the
undistributed earnings of non-U.S. subsidiaries other During 2001, the Company repurchased 12,124
than the Indian earnings of CTS. CTS management shares of outstanding common stock at a total cost of
currently intends to repatriate all Indian earnings to the $310,482. The shares were repurchased under the stock
U.S. and has provided deferred U.S. income taxes on all repurchase programs approved by the Board of Direc-
such Indian undistributed earnings. Undistributed earn- tors on July 19, 2000. As of December 31, 2001, 20,577
ings of non-U.S. subsidiaries, other than the Indian shares had been repurchased since the inception of the
earnings of CTS, aggregated approximately $675,700 at July 2000 program at a total cost of $517,129.
December 31, 2001. Deferred tax liabilities for U.S.

On October 19, 1999 the Board of Directors autho-federal income taxes have not been recognized for these
rized a stock repurchase program to buy up to 16,000 ofundistributed earnings. If such earnings are repatriated
the Company’s outstanding common stock. A portion ofin the future, or are no longer deemed to be indefinitely
this program was intended to offset option exercises.reinvested, applicable taxes will be provided for on such
This program was completed in October 2000 at a totalamounts. It is not currently practicable to determine the
cost of $348,730.amount of applicable taxes.

On October 20, 1998 the Board of Directors autho-Note 18. Commitments
rized a stock repurchase program to buy up to 16,000The Company’s contractual obligations include
shares of the Company’s outstanding common stock. Afacility leases, agreements to purchase data and tele-
portion of this program was intended to offset optioncommunications services and leases of certain computer
exercises. This program was completed in October 1999and other equipment. At December 31, 2001, the mini-
at a cost of $478,302.mum annual payment under these agreements and

other contracts that have initial or remaining Under the Company’s Restated Certificate of
non-cancelable terms in excess of one year are as listed Incorporation as amended, the Company has authority
in the following table: to issue 820,000 shares with a par value of $.01 per share

Data and Computer of which 800,000 represent shares of common stock,
Operating Telecommunication Equipment

10,000 represent shares of preferred stock and 10,000Year Leases(1) Services(2) Leases(3) Total
represent shares of series common stock. The preferred2002 $19,222 $102,676 $ 17,599 $139,497
and series common stock can be issued with varying2003 17,107 79,557 13,373 110,037

2004 12,607 47,822 7,316 67,745 terms, as determined by the Board of Directors.
2005 9,894 37,133 4,252 51,279
2006 8,710 3,160 579 12,449 On December 15, 1998, the Company’s Board of
Thereafter 9,645 2,490 116 12,251

Directors authorized a 2-for-1 split of its common stock
Total $77,185 $272,838 $ 43,235 $393,258 effective January 15, 1999, in the form of a stock divi-
(1) Rental expense under real estate operating leases for the years 2001, dend to shareholders of record on December 29, 1998.

2000 and 1999 was $17,176, $18,911 and $26,656 respectively.
All share and per share amounts in the accompanying

(2) Expense for data and telecommunications services for the years 2001,
Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes to Con-2000 and 1999 was $96,727, $85,858 and $73,061 respectively.
solidated Financial Statements have been restated to(3) Rental expense under computer and other equipment leases was
give effect to the stock split.$16,790, $14,348 and $22,248 for 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.

These leases are frequently renegotiated or otherwise changed as
advancements in computer technology produce opportunities to lower In connection with the Cognizant Spin-Off, the
costs and improve performance. Company entered into a Rights Agreement designed to

Commitments also include ‘‘Capital Calls’’ which protect shareholders of the Company in the event of
are required payments pursuant to the Enterprises unsolicited offers to acquire the Company and the other
agreements. At December 31, 2001 the Company is coercive takeover tactics which, in the opinion of the
obligated to contribute a maximum of $7,000 to meet Board of Directors, could impair its ability to represent
capital call requirements over the remaining life of the shareholder interests. Under the Rights Agreement, each
Enterprises venture capital entities. share of the common stock has one-half of one right
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which trades with the stock until the right becomes exer- The following table presents the company’s operat-
cisable. Each right entitles the registered holder to pur- ing units condensed consolidated financial information
chase 1/1000 of a share of Series A Junior Participating for the one-month period ended December 31, 1998:
Preferred Stock, par value $.01 per share, at a price of One Month Ended

December 31, 1998$225 per 1/1000 of a share, subject to adjustment. The
rights will generally not be exercisable until a person or Revenue . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $71,754
group (‘‘Acquiring Person’’) acquires beneficial owner- Operating Income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,137
ship of, or commences a tender offer or exchange offer Income Before Provision for Income

Taxes . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1,432which would result in such person or group having bene-
Provision for Income Taxes . . . . . . . (392)ficial ownership of 15% or more of the outstanding
Net Income . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 1,040common stock (20% in the case of certain institutional

investors). Earnings Per Share . . . . . . . . . . . . . $ 0.003
In the event that any person or group becomes an

The following table presents the Company’s oper-Acquiring Person, each right will thereafter entitle its
ating units cash flow information for the one-monthholder (other than the Acquiring Person) to receive,
period ended December 31, 1998:upon exercise, shares of stock having a market value of

One Month Endedtwo times the exercise price in the form of the Com-
December 31, 1998pany’s common stock or, where appropriate, the

Net Cash Provided byAcquiring Person’s common stock. The Company may
Operating Activities . . . . $30,852redeem the rights, which expire in June 2008, for $0.01

Net Cash Used in Investingper right, under certain circumstances.
Activities . . . . . . . . . . . . (3,645)

Note 20. Elimination of one-month reporting lag in Net Cash Provided by
IMS Health operating entities Financing Activities . . . . . 2,276

Effective in the first quarter of 1999, the Com- Effect of Exchange Rate
pany’s operating units which previously reported on a Changes on Cash and
fiscal year ended November 30 revised their reporting Cash Equivalents . . . . . . 1,181
period to conform to the Company’s fiscal year end of

Increase in Cash and CashDecember 31 (the ‘‘Calendarization’’). This revision was
Equivalents . . . . . . . . . . . $30,664made to reflect the results of operations and financial

position of these operating units on a more timely basis,
Note 21. Contingenciesconsistent with business performance, and to increase

operating efficiency. The Company has improved its The Company and its subsidiaries are involved in
internal financial systems and work processes, so that various legal proceedings, claims litigation and tax mat-
the Company now has the capability to more rapidly ters arising in the ordinary course of business. In the
collect, consolidate and report information. As such, the opinion of management, the outcome of such current
financial statements of the Company’s operating units at legal proceedings, claims litigation and tax matters, if
December 31, 1998 reflect a twelve-month period ended decided adversely, could have a material effect on quar-
November 30. The $1,040 of net income related to the terly or annual operating results or cash flows when
operating results of the Company’s operating units for resolved in a future period. However, in the opinion of
the period December 1 through December 31, 1998 was management, these matters will not materially affect the
recorded directly to shareholders’ equity as an addition Company’s consolidated financial position.
to Retained Earnings. In addition, December 1998

In addition, the Company is subject to certain otherincluded a $3,409 currency translation adjustment in the
contingencies discussed below:period that was recorded as a reduction of cumulative

translation adjustment. Information Resources Litigation

On July 29, 1996, Information Resources, Inc.
(‘‘IRI’’) filed a complaint in the United States District
Court for the Southern District of New York, naming as
defendants the corporation then known as ‘‘The Dun
and Bradstreet Corporation’’ and now known as ‘‘R. H.
Donnelley Corporation’’ (‘‘Donnelley’’), A.C. Nielsen
Company and I.M.S. International Inc. (a predecessor
of IMS Health) (the ‘‘IRI Action’’). At the time of the
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filing of the complaint, each of the other defendants was or in connection with the IRI Action, and (ii) to conduct
a subsidiary of Donnelley. a joint defense of such action. In particular, the Indem-

nity and Joint Defense Agreement provides that, in theThe complaint alleges various violations of the
event of an adverse decision, ACNielsen will assumeUnited States antitrust laws, including alleged violations
exclusive liability for liabilities up to a maximumof Sections 1 and 2 of the Sherman Act. The complaint
amount to be calculated at the time such liabilities, ifalso alleges a claim of tortious interference with a con-
any, become payable (the ‘‘ACN Maximum Amount’’)tract and a claim of tortious interference with a prospec-
and that Cognizant and Donnelley will share liabilitytive business relationship. These latter claims relate to
equally for any amounts in excess of the ACN Maximumthe acquisition by the defendants of Survey Research
Amount. The ACN Maximum Amount will be deter-Group Limited (‘‘SRG’’). IRI alleges that SRG violated
mined by an investment banking firm as the maximuman alleged agreement with IRI when it agreed to be
amount ACNielsen will be able to pay after giving effectacquired by the defendants and that the defendants
to (i) any plan submitted by such investment bank thatinduced SRG to breach that agreement. IRI’s complaint
is designed to maximize the claims paying ability ofalleges damages in excess of $350,000, which amount
ACNielsen without impairing the investment bankingIRI has asked to be trebled under the antitrust laws. IRI
firm’s ability to deliver a viability opinion (but which willalso seeks punitive damages in an unspecified amount.
not require any action requiring shareholder approval),

On October 15, 1996, the defendants moved for an and (ii) payment of related fees and expenses. For these
order dismissing all claims in the complaint. On May 6, purposes, financial viability means the ability of
1997, the United States District Court for the Southern ACNielsen, after giving effect to such plan, the payment
District of New York issued a decision dismissing IRI’s of related fees and expenses and the payment of the
claim of attempted monopolization in the United ACN Maximum Amount, to pay its debts as they
States, with leave to replead within sixty days. The become due and to finance the current and anticipated
Court denied the defendants’ motion with respect to the operating and capital requirements of its business, as
remaining claims in the complaint. On June 3, 1997, the reconstituted by such plan, for two years from the date
defendants filed an answer denying the material allega- any such plan is expected to be implemented. On Febru-
tions in IRI’s complaint, and A.C. Nielsen Company ary 19, 2001, ACNielsen announced that it merged with
filed a counterclaim alleging that IRI has made false VNU N.V. Pursuant to the Indemnity and Joint Defense
and misleading statements about its services and com- Agreement, VNU is to be included with ACNielsen for
mercial activities. On July 7, 1997, IRI filed an amended purposes of determining the ACN Maximum Amount.
and restated complaint repleading its alleged claim of

In 1998, IMS Health was spun-off from Cognizantattempted monopolization in the United States and
(the ‘‘1998 Spin-Off’’) which then changed its name torealleging its other claims. On August 18, 1997, the
Nielsen Media Research, Inc. (‘‘NMR’’). IMS Healthdefendants moved for an order dismissing the amended
and NMR are jointly and severally liable to Donnelleyclaims. On December 1, 1997, the court denied the
and ACNielsen for Cognizant’s obligations under themotion and, on December 16, 1997, the defendants filed
terms of the Distribution Agreement dated October 28,a supplemental answer denying the remaining material
1996 among Donnelley, Cognizant and ACNielsen (theallegations of the amended complaint. On Decem-
‘‘1996 Distribution Agreement’’). In connection with theber 22, 1999, the defendants filed a motion for partial
1998 Spin-Off, IMS Health and NMR agreed that, assummary judgement seeking to dismiss IRI’s non-U.S.
between themselves, IMS Health will assume 75%, andantitrust claims. On July 12, 2000, the court granted the
NMR will assume 25%, of any payments to be made inmotion dismissing claims of injury suffered from activi-
respect of the IRI Action under the Indemnity and Jointties in foreign markets where IRI operated through
Defense Agreement or otherwise, including any legalsubsidiaries or companies owned by joint ventures or
fees and expenses related thereto incurred in 1999 or‘‘relationships’’ with local companies. This ruling is cur-
thereafter. IMS Health agreed to be fully responsiblerently on appeal. Discovery is continuing in this matter.
for any legal fees and expenses incurred during 1998.In light of the potentially significant liabilities
NMR’s aggregate liability to IMS Health for paymentswhich could arise from the IRI Action and in order to
in respect of the IRI Action and certain other contin-facilitate the distribution by Donnelley of shares of
gent liabilities shall not exceed $125,000.Cognizant Corporation (‘‘Cognizant’’) and ACNielsen

Corporation (the parent company of A.C. Nielsen Com- During 1998, Donnelley separated into two compa-
pany) in 1996, Donnelley, ACNielsen and Cognizant nies (the ‘‘1998 Donnelley Spin’’), Donnelley and The
entered into an Indemnity and Joint Defense Agree- Dun & Bradstreet Corporation (‘‘D&B I’’). As a result,
ment pursuant to which they agreed (i) to certain Donnelley and D&B I are each jointly and severally
arrangements allocating liabilities that may arise out of liable for all Donnelley liabilities under the Indemnity
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and Joint Defense Agreement and the 1996 Distribution reporting of regional sales data in Germany, which the
Agreement. During 2000, D&B I separated into two German courts have ruled is copyright protected. The
companies, Moody’s Corporation (‘‘Moody’s’’) and The Application requests that the Commission grant interim
Dun & Bradstreet Corporation (‘‘D&B II’’). Moody’s relief requiring the Company to grant NDC a compul-
and D&B II are each jointly and severally liable for all sory license to enable NDC to use this structure in its
liabilities under the Indemnity and Joint Defense Agree- competing regional sales data service in Germany.
ment and the 1996 Distribution Agreement that were On March 8, 2001, the Commission decided toassumed by D&B I in the 1998 Donnelley Spin.

initiate formal proceedings against the Company
Management of the Company is unable to predict at through the adoption of another statement of objections

this time the final outcome of this matter or whether the alleging that the Company’s refusal to enter into negoti-
resolution of this matter could materially affect the Com- ations with NDC following NDC’s request for a license
pany’s results of operations, cash flows or financial to use the aforementioned geographic mapping struc-
position. ture could constitute an abuse of a dominant position in

contravention of Article 82 of the EC Treaty. In addi-Matters Before the European Commission
tion, the Commission proposed the granting of interim

The Company is the subject of complaints filed measures requiring the Company to license this struc-
with the European Commission (‘‘EC’’ or the ‘‘Com- ture to third parties, including NDC, until the Commis-
mission’’) pursuant to Article 3 of Council Regulation sion adopts a final decision on the merits of the case.
No. 17 of 1972. The EC complaints allege that the

On July 3, 2001, the Commission announced itsCompany has been and continues to engage in certain
interim decision in these proceedings (the ‘‘Interim Deci-commercial practices that violate Articles 81 and 82 of
sion’’) ordering interim measures pending a final deci-the EC Treaty, which relate to agreements or abuses of
sion on the Application. The Interim Decision requireda dominant position that adversely affect competition.
the Company to grant a license of the geographic map-

As a result of certain of these complaints, on Octo- ping structure on commercially reasonable terms without
ber 19, 2000, the Commission initiated formal proceed- delay to NDC and to any other competitor currently
ings against the Company through the adoption of a present on the German regional sales data market should
statement of objections alleging that certain of the it request a license. The terms and royalties to be paid for
Company’s commercial practices constituted an abuse the license were to be agreed between the Company and
of a dominant position in contravention of Article 82 of the requesting party, and if agreement could not be
the EC Treaty. A statement of objections is a prelimi- reached in a two week period, then the terms and royal-
nary document that does not represent the Commis- ties for the license would be determined by one or more
sion’s final view on the practices at issue. Under Com- independent experts agreed to by the parties, or if the
mission procedures, the Company has full rights of parties could not agree, then the Commission would
defense, including access to the Commission’s files, the appoint one or more experts. The Interim Decision states
right to answer the statement of objections in writing that the expert(s) shall communicate its determination to
and produce evidence of its own, and the right to the Commission for approval within two weeks of being
request the opportunity to present its defense at an oral chosen. Finally, the Interim Decision provides for a pen-
hearing. On February 6, 2001, the Company filed its alty of 1,000 EUROS per day should the Company fail to
written answer to the statement of objections. The comply with the Interim Decision.
Commission will ultimately determine whether a deci-

Following issuance of the Interim Decision, NDCsion requiring the Company to end some or all of the
and AyzX Deutschland GmbH (‘‘AzyX’’) requestedcontested practices is necessary and may impose fines
from the Company a license to the geographic mappingagainst the Company. If such a decision is rendered
structure. The Company was not able to agree withagainst the Company, the Company could appeal that
NDC or AzyX on the terms and royalties to be paid fordecision before the European Court of First Instance.
the license or the determination of one or more inde-The Company intends to vigorously defend this matter.
pendent experts. Before the Commission appointed anyOne of the EC complaints is an application lodged
independent experts, the Interim Decision was sus-with the Commission by National Data Corporation
pended by the President of the European Court of First(‘‘NDC’’) on December 19, 2000. This complaint
Instance (the ‘‘CFI’’) as noted below.requests that the Commission initiate a proceeding

On August 6, 2001, the Company filed an appealagainst the Company for an alleged infringement of
with the CFI seeking the annulment of the InterimArticle 82 of the EC Treaty and grant interim measures
Decision in its entirety (the ‘‘Annulment Appeal’’) and(the ‘‘Application’’). The Application concerns an IMS
requesting that operation of the Interim Decision beHealth geographic mapping structure used for the
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suspended until the CFI renders judgement on the made by D&B I and the Company in May 2000. D&B I
Annulment Appeal. On October 26, 2001, the President has advised the Company that, notwithstanding the filing
of the CFI ruled in the Company’s favor and suspended and payment, it intends to contest the assessment and
the operation of the Decision until the Annulment would also contest the assessment of amounts, if any, in
Appeal is heard and decided. On December 12, 2001, excess of the amounts paid. The Company had previously
NDC filed an appeal to the European Court of Justice accrued for this liability and, therefore, this payment did
(‘‘ECJ’’) seeking annulment of the October 26 decision not result in an expense in 2000.
against it. The Company has filed its reply to NDC’s Pursuant to the 1998 Distribution Agreement,
appeal and expects the ECJ to rule on the appeal in the NMR is responsible for a portion of the amount that the
coming months. The Company intends to continue to Company paid pursuant to the 1996 Distribution Agree-
vigorously assert that its refusal to grant licenses to its ment ($41,136 according to the Company’s calcula-
copyright protected geographic mapping structure to its tions). NMR was not obligated to pay its share to the
direct competitors in Germany, competing in the same Company until January 2, 2001. In December 2000, the
market for which the copyright exists, is not in contra- Company requested reimbursement of this amount
vention of Article 82 of the EC Treaty. from NMR. On January 2, 2001, NMR made a payment

Management of the Company is unable to predict of $10,530 in respect of such matter but refused to pay
at this time the final outcome of the matters described the remaining $30,606 based on its interpretation of the
above or whether the resolution of these matters could applicable agreements. The Company believes that
materially affect the Company’s future results of opera- NMR’s position has no merit and plainly contravenes
tions, cash flows or financial position. the terms of the applicable agreements. Accordingly,

the Company has a receivable of $33,361 for the out-
Other Contingencies standing principal amount due and has now also

Under the terms of the earn out within the pur- recorded interest income thereon of $2,755 from Janu-
chase agreements for one of the acquisitions made in ary 2, 2001 in accordance with the terms of the applica-
2001, the Company may be required to pay up to ble agreements, reflected as Other Receivable in the
$36,720 during 2002 to 2004 as contingent considera- Consolidated Statements of Financial Position. The
tion. See Note 5. Company has commenced arbitration regarding this

matter by filing a Demand for Arbitration with theThe Company and its predecessors have entered,
American Arbitration Association International Centerand the Company continues to enter, into global tax
for Dispute Resolution. The Company believes it willplanning initiatives in the normal course of their busi-
prevail in this matter.nesses. These activities are subject to review by tax

authorities. As a result of the review process, uncertain- In connection with the Gartner Spin-Off, the Com-
ties exist and it is possible that some of these matters pany and Gartner entered into a Distribution Agree-
could be resolved adversely to the Company. ment and an Agreement and Plan of Merger (the ‘‘1999

Distribution Agreements’’). Pursuant to the 1999 Distri-In 1999, the Company was informed by D&B I,
bution Agreements, Gartner agreed to indemnify theacting as agent for Donnelley, that the IRS was reviewing
Company and its stockholders for additional taxesDonnelley’s utilization of certain capital losses during
which may become payable as a result of certain actions1989 and 1990. In response, D&B I advised that it
that may be taken by Gartner that adversely affect theintended to file an amended tax return for these periods
tax-free treatment of the Gartner Spin-Off. However,and to pay this amount in order to prevent further
the Company may become obligated for certain taxinterest from accruing. In May 2000, D&B I paid
liabilities in the event the Gartner Spin-Off is deemed$349,291 of this amount and the Company paid $212,291
to be a taxable transaction as a result of certain Gartnerpursuant to its obligation under the 1996 Distribution
share transactions that may be undertaken following theAgreement and the Distribution Agreement between
Gartner Spin-Off. In the opinion of management, it isCognizant (renamed NMR) and the Company (the
not probable that any such significant liabilities will be‘‘1998 Distribution Agreement’’), whereby the Company
incurred by the Company.is in effect obligated to pay an amount equal to one-half

of the tax and interest owed to the IRS for this matter to As part of the Synavant Spin-Off, IMS Health and
the extent the liability exceeds $137,000 (subject to reim- Synavant entered into a Distribution Agreement. In con-
bursement to the Company of a portion of this amount nection with the Distribution, Synavant will be jointly and
by NMR). In the second quarter of 2000, Donnelley severally liable to the other parties in the 1996 and 1998
received a formal assessment from the IRS with respect Distribution Agreements for the liabilities relating to
to this matter in the amount of $561,582, for additional certain tax matters as well as those relating to the IRI
tax and interest due, which was satisfied by the payments Action. Under the Synavant Distribution Agreement, as

46



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
Amounts in thousands, except per share data

between IMS Health and Synavant, each will bear 50% Property, Plant and Equipment, net:
Estimatedof IMS Health’s share of these liabilities (net of the

2001 2000 Useful livesliability borne by NMR) up to a maximum liability of
Buildings $ 84,466 $ 85,020 40-50 years$9,000 for Synavant. See Note 7. If, contrary to expecta-
Machinery and Equipment 209,041 196,719 3-5 yearstions, the Synavant Spin-Off were not to qualify as tax Less: Accumulated Depreciation (158,280) (150,415)

free under Section 355 of the Internal Revenue Code, Leasehold Improvements, less
Accumulated Amortization ofthen, in general, a corporate tax would be payable by the
$12,108 and $12,570, respectively 7,486 7,634consolidated group, of which IMS Health is a common Land 6,371 6,489

parent and Synavant is a member, based on the differ- At December 31, $149,084 $145,447
ence between (x) the fair market value of the Synavant
Common Stock on the date of the Synavant Spin-Off and Other Assets:
(y) the adjusted basis of such Synavant Common Stock. 2001 2000
In addition, under the consolidated return rules, each

Long-Term Pension Assets $ 45,982 $25,940member of the consolidated group would be severally Long-Term Deferred Tax Asset 47,063 49,342
liable for such tax liability. IMS Health estimates that the Deferred Charges and Other Intangible

Assets 24,997 9,571aggregate tax liability in this regard is not expected to
Other 6,558 6,743exceed $100,000. Pursuant to the Tax Allocation Agree-
At December 31, $124,600 $91,596ment, IMS Health would be liable for the resulting cor-

porate tax, except as provided in the Distribution Agree- Computer Software and Goodwill:
ment. In the opinion of management and based on the Software Goodwill
opinion of tax counsel it is not probable that the Com-

January 1, 2000 $174,974 $339,491pany will incur any liability. Additions at Cost 50,646 —
Amortization (40,995) (19,120)The Company intends to vigorously defend the
Synavant and Erisco dispositions (Notes 7matters noted above. The Company is unable to predict and 12) (20,091) (69,957)

at this time the final outcome of these matters or Impairment Charge—Synavant (Note 6) (14,553) (100,900)
Asset Impairment Charge (Note 8) (24,166) —whether the resolution of these matters could materially
Other Deductions, Reclassifications andaffect the Company’s results of operations, cash flows, Foreign Exchange (8,127) (5,414)

or financial position. December 31, 2000 $117,688 $144,100
Additions at Cost 49,858 19,553

Note 22. Supplemental Financial Data Amortization (29,537) (10,316)
Asset Impairment Charge (Note 8) (17,723) (4,243)Accounts Receivable, net:
Other Deductions, Reclassifications and

2001 2000 Foreign Exchange (3,746) (497)

December 31, 2001 $116,540 $148,597Trade and Notes $193,182 $202,344
Less: Allowance for Doubtful Accounts (9,260) (8,016)

Accumulated amortization of computer softwareUnbilled Receivables 31,268 21,006
Other 13,436 15,654 was $244,116 and $234,270 at December 31, 2001 and

2000, respectively. Accumulated amortization of good-At December 31, $228,626 $230,988
will was $50,984 and $41,937 at December 31, 2001 and
2000, respectively.Other Current Assets:

2001 2000 Accounts Payable:
Deferred Income Taxes $ 63,103 $ 62,934 2001 2000
Prepaid Expenses 23,335 21,666

Trade $16,481 $15,548Inventory 34,032 30,307
Taxes Other than Income Taxes 11,967 19,863Cash Due in Respect of Stock Options 4,449 10,961 Other 4,879 9,787

Other 1,553 6,945
At December 31, $33,327 $45,198

At December 31, $126,472 $132,813

Accrued and Other Current Liabilities:
2001 2000

Salaries, Wages, Bonuses and Other
Compensation $ 37,039 $ 58,370

Data acquisition 28,267 23,033
Accrued Severance and Other 63,700 39,129
Other 67,209 99,194

At December 31, $196,215 $219,726
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Note 23. Operations by Business Segment principally relate to the management of its busi-
ness. Corporate expenses of $30,668 and $32,018Operating segments are defined as components of
have been reclassified for the years endedan enterprise about which financial information is avail-
December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively. Inable that is evaluated on a regular basis by the chief
addition the IMS Segment includes the Com-operating decision-maker, or decision-making groups,
pany’s venture capital unit, Enterprises, which isin deciding how to allocate resources to an individual
focused on investments in emerging businessessegment and in assessing performance of the segment.
and IMS’s 26.8% equity interest in TriZetto.The Company, operating globally in approximately 100

countries, is managed by way of and delivers informa- 2. The CTS Segment delivers full life-cycle solu-
tion, software and related services principally through tions to complex software development and
the strategic business segments referenced below. See maintenance problems that companies face as
Note 1. they transition to e-business. These services are

delivered through the use of a seamless on-siteThe chief operating decision-makers evaluate the
and offshore consulting project team. CTS’s pri-performance and allocate resources based on revenue
mary service offerings include application devel-and operating income. All inter-segment transactions
opment and integration, application manage-are excluded from management’s analysis of operations
ment and re-engineering services.by business segment.

During 2000 and 1999, the Company also included:As at December 31, 2001, the Company’s reporta-
ble segments are as follows:

3. The Transaction Businesses Segment, which con-
1. The IMS Segment is a leading global provider of sisted of (a) Synavant, which serves the pharma-

market information, sales management and ceutical industry by developing and selling phar-
decision-support services to the pharmaceutical maceutical relationship management solutions
and healthcare industries. Its key products that support sales and marketing decision-mak-
include sales management information to opti- ing; (b) Erisco, a leading supplier of software-
mize sales force productivity, marketing effec- based administrative and analytical solutions to
tiveness research for prescription and the managed care industry; and (c) three small
over-the-counter pharmaceutical products, con- non-strategic software businesses. The Company
sulting and other services. The IMS Segment is spun off the Synavant business on August 31,
managed on a global business model with global 2000 and sold Erisco to TriZetto and entered
leaders for the majority of its critical business into a strategic alliance with TriZetto on Octo-
processes. Corporate expenses, which were pre- ber 3, 2000. The Company also divested or dis-
viously not allocated to segments, are now continued the other small non-strategic software
included within the IMS Segment as the costs businesses.

Transaction Total
IMS CTS Businesses(2) Elimination Consolidated

Year End December 31, 2001:
Revenue(5) $1,173,954 $177,778 — $(18,809) $1,332,923
Operating Income (Loss)(1) $ 288,540 $ 35,621 — — $ 324,161
Total Assets(3)(4) $1,222,571 $144,983 — — $1,367,554

Year Ended December 31, 2000:
Revenue(5) $1,131,211 $137,031 $ 170,385 $(14,268) $1,424,359
Operating Income (Loss)(1) $ 282,514 $ 26,129 $(171,450) — $ 137,193
Total Assets(3)(4) $1,192,348 $109,542 $ 6,271 — $1,308,161

Year Ended December 31, 1999:
Revenue(5) $1,037,025 $ 88,904 $ 286,880 $(14,820) $1,397,989
Operating Income (Loss)(1) $ 290,564 $ 16,645 $ 31,814 — $ 339,023
Total Assets(3)(4) $1,153,236 $ 69,011 $ 311,724 — $1,533,971

Notes to Operations by Business Segments:

1. In 2000, $37,626 of Spin and Related Costs (Synavant), which were previously recorded in Corporate Expenses,
have been reallocated to the Transaction Businesses Segment and an Executive Management Transition Charge
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of $31,133, previously recorded in Corporate Expenses, has been reallocated to the IMS Segment. In 1999, Spin
and Related Costs (Gartner) of $9,500 were previously recorded in Corporate Expenses and have now been
reallocated to the IMS Segment.

2. The Transaction Businesses Segment includes Synavant up to the spin-off date of August 31, 2000, and Erisco up
to the date of the sale of October 3, 2000. Revenues and operating losses for Synavant during this period
amounted to $119,700 and $132,000 respectively. The remaining revenues and results of operations relate
primarily to the Erisco business.

3. Total assets of the IMS Segment include Net Assets of Discontinued Operations (Gartner) of $0, $60,799 and
$96,988, as of December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively. IMS Segment assets also include the Company’s
investment in TriZetto of $119,896 and $137,501 as of December 31, 2001 and 2000 respectively, and certain
Corporate assets.

4. CTS segment assets include Cash and Cash Equivalents of $84,977, $61,976 and $42,641 at December 31, 2001,
2000 and 1999, respectively.

5. Eliminations relate to sales from the CTS segment to the IMS segment.

Geographic Financial Information:

U.S. Non-U.S.(2) Total

Year Ended December 31, 2001
Revenue(1) $614,108 $718,815 $1,332,923
Long-Lived Assets(3) $433,676 $223,412 $ 657,088

Year Ended December 31, 2000
Revenue(1) $653,965 $770,394 $1,424,359
Long-Lived Assets(3) $478,426 $188,871 $ 667,297

Year Ended December 31, 1999
Revenue(1) $586,826 $811,163 $1,397,989
Long-Lived Assets(3) $626,044 $210,404 $ 836,448

(1) Revenue relates to external customers and is primarily based on the location of the customer.

(2) Non-U.S. revenue is principally from Japan, the United Kingdom, Germany, Italy, France, Australia and other countries
within Europe, Latin America and the Far East.

(3) Long-Lived Assets consists of: Securities and Other Investments; TriZetto Equity Investment; Property, Plant and
Equipment, net; Computer Software; Goodwill; Deferred Charges, net; Other Intangibles, net and Long-Term Pension
Assets.

Financial Information by Key Product Line:

2001 2000 1999

IMS Segment
Sales management $ 730,169 $ 682,149 $ 599,273
Market research 412,353 404,091 392,423
Other 31,432 44,971 45,329

Total IMS Segment 1,173,954 1,131,211 1,037,025
CTS Segment(1) 158,969 122,763 74,084
Transaction Businesses Segment — 170,385 286,880

Total Revenues $1,332,923 $1,424,359 $1,397,989

(1) After elimination of intersegment sales of $18,809, $14,268 and $14,820 in 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively.
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Three Months Ended

2001 Mar-31 Jun-30 Sep-30 Dec-31(1) Full Year

Revenue $329,562 $334,349 $328,137 $340,875 $1,332,923
Operating Income (Loss) $ 96,458 $107,207 $123,442 $ (2,946) $ 324,161
Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations,

Net of Income Taxes $ 65,807 $ 64,544 $ 41,285 $(33,235) $ 138,401
Income from Discontinued Operations,

Net of Income Taxes — — $ 47,025 — $ 47,025
Net Income (Loss) $ 65,807 $ 64,544 $ 88,310 $(33,235) $ 185,426

Basic Earnings Per Share
Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations $ 0.22 $ 0.22 $ 0.14 $ (0.11) $ 0.47
Income from Discontinued Operations $ 0.00 $ 0.00 $ 0.16 $ 0.00 $ 0.16

Net Income (Loss) $ 0.22 $ 0.22 $ 0.30 $ (0.11) $ 0.63

Diluted Earnings Per Share
Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations $ 0.22 $ 0.21 $ 0.14 $ (0.11) $ 0.46
Income from Discontinued Operations $ 0.00 $ 0.00 $ 0.16 $ 0.00 $ 0.16

Net Income (Loss) $ 0.22 $ 0.21 $ 0.29 $ (0.11) $ 0.62

(1) Refer to Notes 8, 10 and 13 for additional information regarding significant items impacting the Consolidated Statements of Income during the
Fourth Quarter of 2001.

Three Months Ended

2000 Mar-31 Jun-30 Sep-30 Dec-31(1) Full Year

Revenue $352,523 $369,401 $355,867 $346,568 $1,424,359
Operating Income (Loss) $ 75,060 $ 78,547 $(45,999) $ 29,585 $ 137,193
Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations,

Net of Income Taxes $ 82,852 $ 50,229 $(58,417) $ 41,460 $ 116,124
Income from Discontinued Operations,

Net of Income Taxes — — $ 2,226 $ 2,466 $ 4,692
Net Income (Loss) $ 82,852 $ 50,229 $(56,191) $ 43,926 $ 120,816

Basic Earnings Per Share
Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations $ 0.28 $ 0.17 $ (0.20) $ 0.14 $ 0.39
Income from Discontinued Operations $ 0.00 $ 0.00 $ 0.01 $ 0.01 $ 0.02

Net Income (Loss) $ 0.28 $ 0.17 $ (0.19) $ 0.15 $ 0.41

Diluted Earnings Per Share
Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations $ 0.27 $ 0.17 $ (0.20) $ 0.14 $ 0.39
Income from Discontinued Operations $ 0.00 $ 0.00 $ 0.01 $ 0.01 $ 0.02

Net Income (Loss) $ 0.27 $ 0.17 $ (0.19) $ 0.15 $ 0.40
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2001 2000 1999 1998 1997

Results of Operations:
Revenue $1,332,923 $1,424,359 $1,397,989 $1,186,513 $1,059,559
Costs and Expenses(1) 1,008,762 1,287,166 1,058,966 1,054,029 831,949

Operating Income(1) 324,161 137,193 339,023 132,484 227,610
Non-Operating Income (Loss), net(2) (140,360) 124,120 9,419 52,360 13,955

Income from Continuing Operations, Before Provision For Income Taxes 183,801 261,313 348,442 184,844 241,565
Provision For Income Taxes (38,415) (140,412) (98,076) (58,780) (55,614)
TriZetto Equity Loss, net of Income Taxes (6,985) (4,777) — — —

Income from Continuing Operations 138,401 116,124 250,366 126,064 185,951
Income from Discontinued Operations, net of Income Taxes(3) 47,025 4,692 25,695 94,494 126,399

Net Income $ 185,426 $ 120,816 $ 276,061 $ 220,558 $ 312,350

Basic Earnings Per Share of Common Stock
Income from Continuing Operations $ 0.47 $ 0.39 $ 0.80 $ 0.39 $ 0.57
Income from Discontinued Operations, Net of Income Taxes Taxes $ 0.16 $ 0.02 $ 0.08 $ 0.29 $ 0.38

Net Income $ 0.63 $ 0.41 $ 0.88 $ 0.68 $ 0.95

Average Number of Shares Outstanding 295,162 296,077 311,976 324,584 330,326
Diluted Earnings Per Share of Common Stock

Income from Continuing Operations $ 0.46 $ 0.39 $ 0.78 $ 0.38 $ 0.55
Income from Discontinued Operations, Net of Income Taxes $ 0.16 $ 0.02 $ 0.08 $ 0.28 $ 0.38

Net Income $ 0.62 $ 0.40 $ 0.86 $ 0.66 $ 0.93

Average Number of Shares Outstanding—Diluted 300,147 300,038 319,561 335,770 334,980
As a % of Operating Revenue:
Operating Income(1) 24.3% 9.6% 24.3% 11.2% 21.5%
Income from Continuing Operations, net of Income Taxes(1) 10.4% 8.2% 17.9% 10.6% 17.5%

Cash Dividend Declared Per Common Stock $ 0.08 $ 0.08 $ 0.08 $ 0.03 $ —

Balance Sheet Data:
Shareholders’ Equity $ 218,366 $ 103,540 $ 495,222 $ 825,270 $ 801,570
Total Assets $1,367,554 $1,308,161 $1,533,971 $1,789,205 $1,516,537
Post-Retirement and Post-Employment Benefits $ 44,305 $ 43,471 $ 27,429 $ 27,577 $ 38,032
Long-Term Debt and Other Liabilities $ 324,373 $ 182,840 $ 163,356 $ 253,261 $ 158,742

(1) 2001 includes charges related to Severance, Impairment and Other Charges of $94,616, and Terminated Transaction Costs of $6,457. 2000
includes charges related to the Synavant Spin-Off of $37,626, the Synavant related impairment charge of $115,453, the Executive Management
Transition Charge of $31,133 and Severance, Impairment and Other Charges of $45,689. 1999 includes charges related to the Gartner Spin-Off
of $9,500. 1998 includes charges related to the Cognizant Spin-Off of $35,025 and one-time charges and IPR&D write-offs related to the Walsh
and PMSI acquisitions of $48,019 and $32,800, respectively.

(2) Non-Operating Income, net in 2001 includes loss on Gartner shares of $84,880, gains/(losses) from dispositions-net of $27,642 and the SAB
No. 51 loss related to issuance of investees’ stock of $1,490. Non-Operating Income, net in 2000 includes the gain on the sale of Erisco of
$84,530, gains from dispositions—net of $78,139, loss on Gartner shares of $6,896 and the SAB No. 51 gain related to the issue of stock by
TriZetto of $9,029. Non-operating Income, net in 1999 includes gains from dispositions-net of $25,264. Non-operating Income, net in 1998
includes the gain related to the CTS IPO of $12,777 and gains from dispositions-net of $33,341. Results for 1997 include gains from
dispositions-net of $9,391 in non-operating income.

(3) Income from Discontinued Operations, net of Income Taxes includes a tax provision of $25,320, $2,526, $12,635, $49,303 and $62,271 for 2001,
2000, 1999, 1998 and 1997, respectively.
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